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Lead Plaintiffs William McGreevy, Ashwin Gowda, Translunar Crypto LP, Christopher 

Buttenham, and Remo Maria Morone (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all 

others similarly situated, allege the following against Defendants (defined below) based upon the 

investigation of Plaintiffs’ counsel and information and belief, except as to allegations specifically 

pertaining to Plaintiffs, which are based on personal knowledge.  The investigation of counsel 

included, among other things, a review of publicly available information concerning Defendants, 

including information based on the pleading and filings in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et 

al., Case No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC., et al., No. 

23-cv-00287 (S.D.N.Y.), Picha et al. v. Gemini Trust Company, LLC, et al., No. 22-cv-10922-NRB 

(S.D.N.Y.), and Gemini Trust Company, LLC v. Digital Currency Group, Inc. and Barry Silbert, 

Index No. Unassigned (N.Y. Sup. Ct.) (filed July 7, 2023).  Plaintiffs believe substantial evidentiary 

support will exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery.   

I. NATURE OF THE CLAIMS 

 This class action (the “Action”) is brought under Sections 12 and 15 of the 

Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77l and 77o, Sections 10(b) and 20(a) 

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), and 78t(a), the rules 

and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 

(“SEC”), including Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5, and, alternatively, the Connecticut Unfair 

Trade Practices Act, CONN. GEN. STAT. § 42-110a, et seq., and the New York Uniform Deceptive 

Trade Practices Act, GEN. BUS. LAW § 349, et seq. 

 Plaintiffs bring claims on behalf of all persons who purchased Genesis Yield 

securities (as defined below) offered and sold by non-party Genesis Global Capital, LLC (“Genesis 

Global Capital” or the “Company”) during the period February 2, 2021 through November 16, 

2022 (the “Class Period”) who were damaged (the “Class”). 
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 Before and during the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital purported to be a part 

of a “full-service digital currency prime brokerage providing a single point of access for select 

qualified individuals and global institutional investors” and provided “a full suite of services global 

investors require to manage their digital asset portfolios.”  

 Genesis Global Capital’s role in the “full-service digital currency prime brokerage” 

was raising capital for the greater conglomerate of companies operated by Defendants Digital 

Currency Group, Inc. (“DCG”) and Barry Silbert (“Silbert”), by soliciting investment from 

individuals and entities into Genesis Global Capital’s Genesis Yield securities (as defined below), 

to be invested by Genesis Global Capital and DCG.  Members of the Class invested in Genesis 

Yield securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital by entering into standard form 

agreements (the “Genesis Yield Investment Agreements”) whereby investors such as Plaintiffs 

agreed to tender their digital assets or cash to Genesis Global Capital in exchange for interest 

payments and the eventual return of the digital assets on demand. 

 Genesis Global Capital pooled the digital assets it received pursuant to the Genesis 

Yield Investment Agreements and invested the digital assets pursuant to certain strategies designed 

to generate revenue for Genesis Global Capital and its affiliates, and to pay Genesis Global 

Capital’s investors interest.   

 Defendant DCG is the parent entity of a conglomerate of subsidiaries that operate 

and invest in the digital currency, or crypto, market, including the Genesis-affiliated companies.  

At all times alleged herein DCG was the 100% owner of a holding company, Genesis Global 

Holdco, LLC (“GGH”), that was the 100% owner of the Genesis Global Capital.  GGH does not 

operate any business separate from Genesis Global Capital and its other operating subsidiaries.  

GGH and Genesis Global Capital do not have separate boards.  GGH is a sister company of Genesis 

Global Trading, Inc. (“GGT”), which is 100% owned by DCG and engaged in crypto trading, 
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derivatives, and custody services.   

 Defendant Silbert is the founder of DCG, Genesis Global Capital, and several other 

DCG subsidiary companies. During the Class Period, Silbert was the controlling shareholder of 

DCG (owning approximately 40%), chairman of DCG’s three-person board of directors, and 

DCG’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). Defendants Glenn Hutchins (“Hutchins”) and Lawrence 

Lenihan (“Lenihan”) were directors of DCG.   

 Defendant DCG closely managed and controlled the Company and its affiliates 

through interlocking directors and officers.  Defendant Mark Murphy (“Murphy”) was the Chief 

Operating Officer (“COO”) of DCG during the period January 2020 through November 2022, and 

has been President of DCG since October 2022, and is a member of the board of directors of GGH 

and the Company, and Defendant Michael Kraines (“Kraines”) was the Chief Financial Officer 

(“CFO”) of DCG from in or around September 2021 through April 2023, and is a member of the 

board of directors of GGH and the Company.  

 Defendant Soichiro “Michael” Moro (“Moro”) was the CEO of Genesis Global 

Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period through August 17, 2022 when he “stepped 

down” as CEO.  Defendant Derar Islim (“Islim”) has served as the COO of Genesis Global Capital 

and GGT since the start of the Class Period.  On or around August 17, 2022, Defendants DCG and 

Murphy hand-picked Defendant Islim to serve as interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT, 

and during the Class Period he was a member of the board of directors of GGH and the Company.  

Defendant Matthew Ballensweig (“Ballensweig”) was the managing director and co-head of sales 

and trading of GGT before the Class Period through September 28, 2022.   

 On November 16, 2022, Genesis Global Capital experienced a slew of withdrawal 

requests from investors, and because Genesis Global Capital did not have the assets to honor 

redemption requests from investors, the Company unilaterally stopped honoring redemption 
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requests from investors, meaning no investor could obtain their digital assets from Genesis Global 

Capital.  At the time the Company stopped honoring redemption requests from investors, the 

Company had offered or sold billions of dollars in securities to investors.   

 As a result of the violations of the federal securities laws and state law violations 

alleged herein, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been denied access to their digital assets 

since November 16, 2022 and have been damaged by Defendants’ wrongful conduct. 

 On January 19, 2023, the Company and certain of its affiliates filed voluntary 

petitions for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101—1532 

in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York and the chapter 11 

overview of cases are being jointly administered under the lead case In re: Genesis Global Holdco, 

LLC, et al., Case No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) (the “Genesis Bankruptcy Action”).  

Under section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Company’s filing of its voluntary petition gave 

rise to a stay of claims alleged against it in the Action.  But for its bankruptcy, Genesis Global 

Capital would have been named as a defendant in the Action for its wrongful conduct alleged 

herein.1  

II. OVERVIEW OF THE SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS 

 The Securities Act claims are contained in Section X of this complaint.  The 

Securities Act claims expressly do not make any allegations of fraud or scienter and do not 

incorporate any of the allegations contained in Section XI, including the allegations of scienter and 

fraud.   

 During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital offered and sold securities 

(Genesis Yield) to Plaintiffs and members of the Class whereby Plaintiffs and members of the 

Class tendered consideration (the investment principal) to Genesis Global Capital in exchange for 

 
1 See https://restructuring.ra.kroll.com/genesis/ (last visited July 11, 2023). 
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Genesis Global Capital’s promise to pay back the investment principal, together with accrued 

interest, on demand. 

 Genesis Global Capital did not register the offer or sale of the Genesis Yield 

securities with the SEC and there was no registration statement in effect as to the Genesis Yield 

securities as required under Section 5 of the Securities Act. Because no applicable exemption from 

registration applied, Genesis Global Capital’s failure to register the Genesis Yield securities 

violated Section 5 of the Securities Act.   

 Because Genesis Global Capital offered or sold securities to members of the Class 

in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act, Genesis Global Capital violated Section 12(a)(1) of 

the Securities Act and Plaintiffs and members of the Class are entitled to recover the consideration 

paid for the securities less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of 

such security, or for damages if the securities are no longer owned. 

 Under the Securities Act, the Company is strictly liable for its violations of Section 

12(a)(1).  But for Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, it would have been named as a defendant 

for violating Section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act. 

 Under Section 15 of the Securities Act, the following Defendants were controlling 

persons of Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period through stock ownership, agency, or 

otherwise, or who, pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or understanding with one or 

more other persons by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, controlled Genesis 

Global Capital: a) Defendant DCG as 100% owner of Genesis Global Capital through GGH; b) 

Defendant Silbert, founder of DCG and controlling shareholder of DCG (40% share ownership) 

and chair of the DCG board of directors and its CEO; c) Defendants Hutchins and Lenihan, as 

members of the board of directors of DCG; d) Defendant Kraines, the former CFO of DCG and a 

member of the boards of GGH and the Company; e) Defendant Murphy, the COO and President 
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of DCG and a member of the boards of GGH and the Company; e) Defendant Moro, the former 

CEO of Genesis Global Capital, and f) Defendant Islim, the COO and interim CEO of Genesis 

Global Capital and member of the boards of GGH and the Company.    

 Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, Murphy, Moro, and Islim 

are referred to as the “Securities Act Defendants.” 

 Because Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, Murphy, Moro, and 

Islim were controlling persons of the Company, each of them is liable jointly and severally with 

and to the same extent as the Company to members of the Class under Section 15 of the Securities 

Act. 

III. OVERVIEW OF THE EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS 

 The Exchange Act claims are brought under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 

and SEC Rule 10b-5, codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 against Defendants DCG, Silbert, 

Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Murphy and Ballensweig, and under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act 

against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy.  But for 

Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, it would have been named as a defendant for violating 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. 

 Defendants Moro, Ballensweig, Islim, DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines 

and Murphy are referred to as the “Exchange Act Defendants.” 

 Rule 10b-5 under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act that “it shall be unlawful for 

any person . . . (a) [t]o employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) [t]o make any untrue 

statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact . . . or (c) to engage in any act, 

practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any 

person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.” 

 During the Class Period, as alleged below, in violation of Section 10(b) Defendants 
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Moro, Murphy and Ballensweig made materially false and misleading statements in violation of 

Section 10b-5(b), and Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins and Lenihan employed a device, scheme 

or artifice to defraud, and engaged in practices, or course of business which operated or would 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon members of the Class.   

 During the Class Period, the Exchange Act Defendants invested the digital assets 

Genesis Global Capital received from investors in ways designed to line DCG’s and Silbert’s own 

pockets even though pursuit of these strategies contravened Genesis Global Capital’s stated risk-

management protocols, including, as discussed infra Section XI(A) that Genesis Global Capital, 

was “well protected” using “collateral, calculated exposure limits based on quantitative and 

qualitative due-diligence, margin management, ongoing transparency and financial updates, and 

macro hedging tools,” and responsible risk management procedures such as lending on “an ‘over-

collateralized’ basis.” 

 For example, the Exchange Act Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to use 

Genesis Yield investors’ digital assets to engage in transactions designed to benefit the DCG 

conglomerate. The Exchange Act Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to loan digital asset 

to DCG itself without requiring DCG to post sufficient collateral, knowing the loan would be used 

for the purchase of shares of the Greyscale Bitcoin Trust (“GBTC”), a publicly traded security 

managed by DCG and Silbert’s Grayscale Investments, LLC (“Grayscale”) subsidiary, to 

maximize the management fees collectable by the DCG conglomerate. GBTC trades over the 

counter (“OTC”) under the symbol “GBTC.”  

 The Exchange Act Defendants also caused Genesis Global Capital to contravene 

their own stated risk-management practices and take on an unreasonable amount of counterparty 

concentration risk by lending almost 30% of Genesis Global Capital’s total loan book to a single 

party, digital asset hedge fund Three Arrows Capital (“3AC”) in undercollateralized loans. This 
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too was designed to benefit the DCG conglomerate by maximizing the management fees earned 

for managing GBTC.  

 These self-interested acts had disastrous results. 3AC declared bankruptcy in June 

2022, and after 3AC liquidated its assets, Genesis Global Capital was left with an uncollectable 

$1.1 billion debt, an impairment in value which the Exchange Act Defendants should have caused 

Genesis Global Capital to recognize on its balance sheet regularly distributed to investors or their 

agents.  

 Recognition of the impairment, however, would have meant Genesis Global Capital 

recognizing its own insolvency, which would have terminated all Genesis Yield Investment 

Agreements and entitled investors such as Plaintiffs and members of the Class to the return of their 

digital assets. It also would have meant the end of Genesis Global Capital’s business and DCG’s 

source of capital.  

 Instead of recognizing the impairment, Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins and 

Lenihan directed and caused Genesis Global Capital to engage in a misleading sham transaction 

without any economic reality, designed to conceal its insolvency.  Defendants DCG, Silbert, 

Hutchins and Lenihan caused Genesis Global Capital to “sell” the uncollectable $1.1 billion 3AC 

debt to DCG in exchange for a 10-year promissory note (the “DCG Promissory Note”) with an 

interest rate of 1% per year due in 2032. The DCG Promissory Note was executed by Defendant 

Silbert.  Importantly, no cash, cash equivalents, or any assets meeting the definition of a current 

asset changed hands in this transaction, which meant that Genesis Global Capital received zero 

capitalization from DCG. Instead, Genesis Global Capital magically erased the bad debt from its 

books and replaced it with a “good” debt.  

 Defendants Moro and Islim caused Genesis Global Capital to misleadingly include 

the $1.1 billion amount of the DCG Promissory Note on its balance sheet as a “current asset and/or 
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receivable,” which falsely portrayed Genesis Global Capital as solvent when, in fact, it was 

insolvent.  

 Defendants Moro and Islim did so despite the fact that the DCG Promissory Note 

was objectively worth nowhere near $1.1 billion (its face value) at the time DCG, Silbert, and 

Genesis Global Capital executed the DCG Promissory Note. Gemini, the appointed agent for 

hundreds of thousands of Class Members, believes the DCG Promissory Note should have 

immediately been discounted by approximately 70%, and on July 11, 2023, the Notice of Filing of 

Exhibit to Disclosure Statement filed by Genesis Global Capital itself  in the Genesis Bankruptcy 

Action estimated the value of the DCG Promissory Note as being somewhere between only $90 

million (a 92% discount) to $323 million (a 70% discount).2  

 As discussed in further detail below Defendants Moro, Murphy and Islim caused 

Genesis Global Capital and Defendant Ballensweig to disseminate misleading balance sheets and 

other documents containing misrepresentations to Genesis Yield investors and their appointed 

agent intended to induce additional parties to invest in Genesis Yield, convince existing  Genesis 

Global Capital investors to reinvest in Genesis Yield securities and/or to prevent them from 

requesting redemptions of their securities and return of investors digital assets.  

 Defendants Moro and Islim caused Genesis Global Capital to represent to each 

investor that purchased Genesis Global Capital securities from July 1, 2022 that it was solvent, 

when in fact it was not due to the 3AC bankruptcy in June 2022.  

 These material misrepresentations and omissions concerning Genesis Global 

Capital’s solvency violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 

78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, codified at 17 CFR 240.10b-5, which prohibit defrauding or 

deceiving, including through misrepresentation of material information in connection with the 

 
2 In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case No.: 23-10063, ECF No. 488 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) 
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purchase or sale of security, or failure to disclose material facts necessary in order to make the 

statements, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

 The misrepresentations and omissions were material, as no reasonable investor 

would have invested in Genesis Yield securities had they known of Genesis Global Capital’s 

undisclosed concentration of risk and under collateralization, true financial condition, or the 

undisclosed details of the $1.1 billion DCG Promissory Note.  

 Plaintiffs, members of the Class, and/or their agents reasonably relied on Genesis 

Global Capital’s misrepresentations and omissions as to Genesis Global Capital’s risk management 

and solvency in deciding to invest or reinvest in Genesis Yield securities.  

 Thus, as a result of the material misrepresentations and omissions, Genesis Global 

Capital received billions of dollars from Plaintiffs and members of the Class that Genesis Global 

Capital otherwise would not have. 

 The truth began to be revealed on November 16, 2022 when Genesis Global Capital 

experienced a slew of withdrawal requests in the wake of the collapse of digital asset trading 

platform FTX with whom GGT and Genesis Global Capital engaged in substantial business. The 

collapse of FTX began to reveal Genesis Global Capital’s true financial condition and that Genesis 

Global Capital did not have the assets to honor redemption requests from investors.  

 On November 16, 2022, Genesis Global Capital unilaterally stopped honoring 

redemption requests, meaning no investor could obtain their digital assets from Genesis Global 

Capital. Even then, Genesis Global Capital continued to conceal its true financial condition, calling 

the cause of its inability to honor redemptions a result of a “liquidity and duration mismatch” when 

in reality it was because of insolvency.  

 On January 19, 2022, Genesis Global Capital and two affiliated entities filed the 

Genesis Bankruptcy Action.  
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 Reportedly, DCG’s transactions involving Genesis Global Capital and GGT are 

being investigated by the U.S. Department of Justice and the SEC. 

 As a result of the conduct described herein, Plaintiffs and members of the Class 

defined below have suffered significant harm and are owed billions of dollars. 

IV. OVERVIEW OF THE CONSUMER PROTECTION CLAIMS 

 The Consumer Protection Claims are alleged by Plaintiffs in the alternative to 

Plaintiffs’ Securities Act claims and Plaintiffs’ Exchange Act claims in the event a determination 

is made that the Genesis Yield securities do not qualify as “securities” under federal law. 

 The Consumer Protection Claims are premised on the same conduct that forms the 

basis of Plaintiffs’ Exchange Act Claims outlined at ¶¶ 21-43 above, and elsewhere in this 

Complaint. 

 Assuming, arguendo, the Exchange Act Defendants’ conduct did not violate the 

Exchange Act because the Genesis Yield securities are not “securities,” the Exchange Act 

Defendants’ conduct nevertheless constitute violations of the consumer protection laws of 

Connecticut, General Statutes § 42-110a, et seq., and New York, General Business Law § 349, et 

seq., the states in which DCG and Silbert were domiciled and transacted business from during the 

Class Period. 

V. PARTIES 

A. PLAINTIFFS 

 William McGreevy (“McGreevy”) is a resident of Kansas. McGreevy purchased 

securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities), and was damaged, 

as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court. ECF No. 38-2. 

 Ashwin Gowda (“Gowda”) is a resident of Texas. Gowda purchased securities 

offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis Yield securities), and 
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was damaged, as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court. ECF No. 38-3.  

 Translunar Crypto LP (“Translunar”) is a limited partnership organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of Delaware and domiciled in the State of Texas. Translunar purchased 

securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis Yield 

securities) and was damaged, as reflected in its certification previously filed with the Court. ECF 

No. 38-4.  

 Christopher Buttenham (“Buttenham”) is a resident of Nevada. Buttenham 

purchased securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis 

Yield securities), and was damaged, as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court. 

ECF No. 38-5.  

 Remo Maria Morone (“Morone”) is a resident of Turin, Italy. Morone purchased 

securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis Yield 

securities), and was damaged, as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court. ECF. 

No. 34-2. 

B. SECURITIES ACT DEFENDANTS 

 Defendant DCG is a corporation formed and existing under and pursuant to the 

laws of Delaware. DCG maintains its principal place of business in Stamford, Connecticut. Prior 

to moving to Stamford, Connecticut, DCG maintained its principal place of business in New York, 

New York.  

 Defendant Silbert is the founder and the CEO of DCG, and chair of DCG’s board 

of directors. Upon information and belief, during part of the Class Period Silbert was a resident of 

Connecticut and is currently a resident of Rye, New York. Silbert reportedly owns 40% of the 

equity of DCG. Silbert has consistent and daily management responsibilities for DCG’s and DCG’s 

subsidiaries’ operations, including the Company, GGT, and Grayscale Investments. For example, 
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Silbert reportedly prefers focusing on the capital allocation activities of DCG and its subsidiaries. 

Silbert’s activities and responsibilities include making the decision not to register Genesis Global 

Capital’s securities (notes or investment contracts) with the SEC, and engaging in the transaction 

which led to the issuance of the DCG Promissory Note and execution of the DCG Promissory 

Note. Silbert has repeatedly and publicly discussed his role in DCG and oversight of its wholly-

owned subsidiaries.   

 Defendant Hutchins was a director of DCG during the Class Period. 

 Defendant Lenihan was a director of DCG during the Class Period. 

 Defendant Moro was the CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT since the start 

of the Class Period through August 17, 2022. 

 Defendant Islim was the COO since the start of the Class Period and on August 17, 

2022, he was appointed interim CEO by DCG and Murphy, and during the Class Period he was a 

member of the board of directors of GGH. 

 Defendant Kraines was CFO of DCG from on or around September 2021 through 

April 2023, and during the Class Period was a member of the board of directors of GGH and the 

Company.  

 Defendant Murphy was the COO of DCG during the period January 2020 through 

November 2022, and has been President of DCG since October 2022, and is a member of the board 

of directors of GGH and the Company.  As COO of DCG Murphy worked closely with DCG’s 

subsidiaries, including Genesis Global Capital, on strategy, execution, marketing and all 

management matters.  Murphy led DCG’s legal, communications, marketing, brand and public 

policy efforts and supported Defendant Silbert on day-to-day management of DCG.  On August 

17, 2022, as CCO of DCG, Murphy stated “we’re pleased to elevate [Defendant Islim] to the 

interim CEO role—he has our full trust and confidence and has been instrumental in developing 
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key areas of the Genesis business,” indicating that DCG and Murphy hand-picked the Company’s 

interim CEO.  

 Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy are 

referred to from ¶¶ 182-195 below, as the “Securities Act Defendants.” 

 The Securities Act Defendants, because of their positions with DCG, Genesis 

Global Capital, and/or affiliates, possessed the power and authority to control Genesis Global 

Capital.  

C. EXCHANGE ACT DEFENDANTS 

 The “Exchange Act Defendants” as referred to from ¶¶ 196-304 below are 

Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines, Murphy, and Defendant 

Ballensweig, the managing director and co-head of sales and trading of GGT before the Class 

Period through September 28, 2022.  

 The Exchange Act Defendants because of their positions with the DCG, Genesis 

Global Capital and/or GGT, possessed the power and authority to control the sale or offering of 

securities by Genesis Global Capital, and/or acted within the scope of their authority or 

employment.  Because of their positions and access to material non-public information available 

to them, but not to investors, each of them knew, or at least recklessly disregarded, that the adverse 

facts specified herein had not been disclosed to and were being concealed from investors in 

Genesis Yield Investment Agreements and that the positive representations which were being made 

were then materially false and misleading. 

D. CONSUMER PROTECTION DEFENDANTS 

 Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines, Murphy and 

Defendant Ballensweig are referred to from ¶¶ 305-313 below, as the “Consumer Protection 

Defendants.” 
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 The Consumer Protection Defendants, because of their positions with DCG, 

Genesis Global Capital and/or GGT, possessed the power and authority to control the product 

offerings of Genesis Global Capital, and/or acted within the scope of their authority or 

employment.  Because of their positions and access to material non-public information available 

to them, but not to investors, each of them knew, or at least recklessly disregarded, that the adverse 

facts specified herein had not been disclosed to and were being concealed from investors in 

Genesis Yield Investment Agreements and that the positive representations which were being made 

were then materially false and misleading. 

VI. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the Action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

because the complaint asserts claims under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.  

 Jurisdiction of this Court is also founded upon Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 78aa(a), which provides that federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over violations of 

the Exchange Act, including Sections 10(b) and 20(a).  

 Venue is proper in this judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c) 

because Defendants DCG and Silbert transact business in, are found in, and/or have agents in this 

District, and because some of the actions giving rise to this complaint took place in this District.  

 The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants. Defendants transacted 

business, maintained substantial contacts throughout the United States, including in this District. 

The wrongful conduct alleged in this complaint have been directed at, and have had the intended 

effect of, causing injury to persons residing in, located in, or doing business throughout the United 

States, including in this District.  

 The Court also has personal jurisdiction over Defendants under the nationwide 

service of process provisions of Section 22 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77v.  
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 This Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S. Code § 1367 over all other 

claims because they are so related to claims in the Action within such original jurisdiction that they 

form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the U.S. Constitution. 

 This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the Action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§1332(d)(2)(A), because this case is a class action where the aggregate claims of all members of 

the proposed Class exceed $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs, and the Plaintiffs and 

most members of the proposed Class are citizens of a state different from Defendant. 

 This Court has jurisdiction over the Defendants who are domiciled in the State of 

Connecticut and because the Defendants have transacted business within the State of Connecticut. 

VII. THE DCG CONGLOMERATE 

A. DIGITAL CURRENCY GROUP 

 Defendant DCG was founded by Defendant Silbert in 2015.  In addition to founding 

DCG, Silbert has at all times served as CEO and Chairman of the board of directors of DCG. Until 

2021, Defendant Silbert was also CEO of DCG’s wholly-owned subsidiary business, Grayscale, 

and served as Chairman of Grayscale’s board of directors.  

 In addition to Defendant Silbert, Defendants Hutchins and Lenihan were directors 

of DCG during the Class Period. 

 Defendant Silbert’s aim has been to run DCG as a private conglomerate with 

divisions in every aspect of the digital asset market: “the model I use as an inspiration is Standard 

Oil,” Silbert has stated, referring to the 19th-century oil conglomerate founded by John D. 

Rockefeller. 

 DCG describes itself as follows:  

Founded in 2015 by CEO Barry Silbert, DCG is the most active investor in the 

blockchain sector, with a mission to accelerate the development of a better financial 

system through the proliferation of digital assets and blockchain technology. Today, 

DCG sits at the epicenter of the industry, backing more than 175 blockchain-related 
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companies in over 35 countries. DCG also invests directly in digital currencies and 

other digital assets. In addition to its investment portfolio, DCG is the parent 

company of Genesis (a global digital asset prime brokerage), Grayscale 

Investments (the largest digital currency asset manager), CoinDesk (a leading 

financial media, data, and information company), Foundry (a leader in bitcoin 

mining and staking) and Luno (a leading cryptocurrency platform with a large 

international footprint).  

 To maintain control over Defendant DCG and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 

Defendant Silbert has eschewed conducting an initial public offering to raise capital for Defendant 

DCG, stating “[DCG] doesn’t need to dilute its ownership to raise capital . . . [i]t is not only not in 

the works, it’s not even being discussed.”3 

 For example, while Defendant DCG engaged in a 2021 financing round which 

valued Defendant DCG at more than $10 billion, according to Defendant Silbert, this transaction 

was less about raising capital and was more “an opportunity for some early investors to exit and 

take profits . . . all the money raised went to the selling shareholders, and none sold their entire 

stake.”  

 Importantly, Defendant Silbert, who then owned approximately 40% of DCG, 

didn’t sell any stock in the offering.  

 As just one example of his control of Defendant DCG and its subsidiaries 

Defendant Silbert decided to move DCG and many of its subsidiary businesses, including 

Grayscale, from New York, New York to Stamford, Connecticut, where Defendant Silbert then 

lived.4 Defendant DCG and Grayscale’s moves were completed in early 2022.  

 Defendant Silbert still owns approximately 40% of DCG and at all relevant times 

controlled the day-to-day activities of DCG and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Grayscale, Genesis 

 
3 Paul Vigna, Digital Currency Group Wants to Be Crypto’s Standard Oil, Wall Street Journal (Nov. 1, 2021), 

https://www.wsj.com/articles/digital-currency-group-wants-to-be-cryptos-standard-oil-11635764400 
4 Gregory Zucherman, Vicky Ge Huang and Caitlin Ostroff, A Crypto Magnate Saw the Risks and Still Was 

Hammered, Wall Street Journal (Jan. 17, 2023), https://www.wsj.com/articles/a-crypto-magnate-saw-the-risks-and-

still-was-hammered-11673979412 (“Around 2020, Mr. Silbert decided to move most of the businesses from lower 

Manhattan to Stamford, Conn., where he lived.”). 
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Global Capital, and GGT, including the capital allocation and investment strategies employed by 

these entities.  

 In April 2022, Forbes estimated Defendant Silbert’s net worth at $3.2 billion, up 

from 2021’s estimate of $1.6 billion.  

 Defendant DCG closely managed and controlled its subsidiaries through 

interlocking directors and officers.  Defendant Murphy was the COO of DCG during the period 

January 2020 through November 2022, and has been President of DCG since October 2022, and 

is a member of the boards of directors of Genesis Global Capital and GGH, and Defendant Kraines 

was CFO of DCG from in or around September 2021 through April 2023, and is a member of the 

boards of directors of Genesis Global Capital and GGH. 

B. GRAYSCALE INVESTMENTS 

 Grayscale is a subsidiary of Defendant DCG and is a digital asset management 

company that offers investment products that provide exposure to the price movement of various 

digital currencies. Grayscale’s most popular investment product is the Grayscale Bitcoin Trust, or 

“GBTC.”  

 GBTC is a publicly traded investment vehicle managed by Grayscale that provides 

exposure to bitcoin’s price movements without the need to directly buy and hold the digital 

currency.  

 GBTC is traded on OTCQX, a market for OTC securities.  

 GBTC shares can be acquired in two ways: (1) anyone with a brokerage account 

can buy GBTC shares in the OTC securities markets; and (2) investors can subscribe to the 

underlying trust (the “Trust”).  

 Subscribing to the Trust requires a minimum investment of $50,000 and is available 

only to accredited investors.  
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 Trust subscribers receive GBTC shares representing the value of Bitcoin held in the 

Trust equal to the amount of Bitcoin invested by the subscriber into the Trust.  

 GBTC shares issued via subscriptions are subject to a six-month lockup period 

during which subscribers cannot sell their shares.  

 GTBC subscribers are free to sell their GBTC shares once the lockup period ends.  

 Until February 2021, GBTC shares traded at a premium or in excess of the net value 

of the assets held by GBTC (the “Net Asset Value” or “NAV”). For example, on December 22, 

2020, GBTC was trading at a 38.57% premium to its NAV.  

 The premium was attributed to the fact that GBTC was the only way for 

institutional investors to get regulator-approved access to Bitcoin’s price movements, which 

caused demand to exceed supply.  

 Traders sought to exploit the existence of the premium by subscribing to the Trust 

and selling their GBTC shares at a premium once the six-month lockup period expired (in what 

came to be known as the “Grayscale Trade”).  

 GBTC stopped trading at a premium to NAV in February 2021 and flipped to a 

discount. 

 Since February 2021, the discount of GBTC shares to GBTC’s NAV continued to 

increase:  

a) On November 30, 2021, GBTC shares were trading at a 12.05% discount to 

GBTC’s NAV.  

b) On January 31, 2022, GBTC shares were trading at a 25.11% discount to 

GBTC’s NAV.  

c) On June 1, 2022, GBTC shares were trading at a 29.97% discount to the 

GBTC’s NAV.  
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d) On November 1, 2022, GBTC shares were trading at a 35.76% discount to 

the GBTC’s NAV.  

e) On November 16, 2022, GBTC shares were trading at a 39.29% discount to 

the GBTC’s NAV.  

f) On January 20, 2023, GBTC shares were trading at a 40.05% discount to 

GBTC’s NAV.  

 Grayscale charges a 2% annual management fee to manage GBTC, meaning that 

Grayscale, DCG, and Silbert take hundreds of millions of dollars annually and have an incentive 

to maximize the assets under management (“AUM”) of Grayscale.  

 On December 31, 2021, Grayscale published a chart on Twitter showing GBTC’s 

AUM as $30.417 billion, indicating approximately $600 million in management fees paid to 

Greyscale.  

C. GENESIS GLOBAL TRADING, INC. & GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL, 

LLC.  

 GGT was formed in 2005 and was initially operated by Defendant Silbert as the 

bitcoin trading arm of Silbert’s company SecondMarket, which Silbert launched in 2004 as a 

private marketplace where accredited investors could buy and sell shares of private companies. 

Silbert served as CEO of SecondMarket until selling SecondMarket to Nasdaq in 2015.  

 Defendant Silbert spun GGT out of SecondMarket prior to selling SecondMarket 

to Nasdaq and relaunched GGT as a standalone broker-dealer specializing in digital currencies on 

April 16, 2015, over six months before Defendant Silbert announced the formation of DCG.  

 In October 2015, in conjunction with the formation of DCG, Defendant Silbert 

caused GGT to become a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCG with Defendant Silbert serving as 

DCG’s CEO, Chairman, and controlling shareholder, thus controlling GGT.  

 GGT operated as a New York-based non-custodial, OTC market-maker in digital 
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assets and brokerage, holding a virtual currency BitLicense with the New York Department of 

Financial Services (“NYDFS”), and registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and the Financial 

Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA.  

 In late 2017, Defendant Silbert and DCG organized Genesis Global Capital under 

the laws of the State of Delaware to house the growing digital asset investment business of the 

DCG conglomerate GGT had been operating for Silbert and DCG.  

 Defendants Silbert and DCG formally spun Genesis Global Capital out of GGT as 

a standalone entity in April 2018, provided Genesis Global Capital with $40 million in seed 

capital,5 and caused GGT to reassign all existing digital asset loan agreements to Genesis Global 

Capital.  

 Defendant Moro was the CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT since the start 

of the Class Period through August 17, 2022.  

 Defendant Islim was the COO of Genesis Global Capital and on August 17, 2022, 

Defendants DCG and Murphy appointed him interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT, 

and during the Class Period he was a member of the board of directors of GGH and the Company.   

 Defendant Ballensweig was the managing director and co-head of sales and trading 

of GGT before the Class Period through September 28, 2022. 

 Defendants DCG and Silbert controlled Genesis Global Capital through, inter alia, 

DCG’s 100% ownership of Genesis Global Capital, the placement of DCG and Silbert’s 

representatives on the board of Genesis Global Capital and GGT, as well as DCG and Silbert’s 

ability to hire and fire executives of Genesis Global Capital and GGT. 

 
5 Vikcy Ge Huang & Caitlin Ostroff, The 2018 Meeting That Kicked off a Lending Relationship Between Alameda 

and Genesis, Wall Street Journal (Jan. 19, 2023), https://www.wsj.com/livecoverage/stock-market-news-today-01-

19-2023/card/the-2018-meeting-that-kicked-off-a-lending-relationship-between-alameda-and-genesis-

7dzw1fYOFJUQqxDRt2IY (“Its parent company, Digital Currency Group, gave Genesis $40 million to start the 

lending business, according to people familiar with the matter.”) 
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D. HQ DIGITAL 

 DCG publicly announced the launch of wealth management company HQ Digital 

in June 2022.6 

 HQ Digital advertised itself as a membership platform offering private investments, 

estate planning, risk mitigation and insurance, among other services: 

 

 HQ Digital never took off and was shuttered by DCG on January 31, 2023 “[d]ue 

to the state of the broader economic environment and prolonged crypto winter presenting 

significant headwinds to the industry.”7 

 During its brief existence, however, HQ Digital appears to have served a single 

purpose: managing the personal wealth of Defendant Silbert and a select few other top DCG 

executives. 

 A Form ADV filed by HQ Digital entity HQ Investments LLC revealed that HQ 

Digital had four clients: one high net worth individual with over $3.6 billion AUM, and three 

 
6 https://www.theblock.co/linked/151007/digital-currency-group-unveils-wealth-management-subsidiary 
7 https://decrypt.co/118533/dcg-hq-shut-down-genesis-layoffs 
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pooled investment vehicles with a combined total of $8.1 million AUM: 

 

 Upon information and belief, the high net worth individual with over $3.6 billion 

AUM with HQ Digital reflected on the Form ADV was Defendant Silbert. 

 The Form ADV lists two “Control Person(s)” as controlling HQ Digital: Defendants 

DCG and Silbert.  

 HQ Digital managed the funds of Defendant Silbert and others via a series of 

limited partnerships named, inter alia, HQ Founders Liquidity Fund I LP, HQ Ecosystem Fund I 

LP, HQ Cash Management Fund LP, and HQ Enhanced Yield Fund LP, LP. 

 Bankruptcy filings show that the HQ Cash Management Fund invested extensively 

with Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period as HQ Digital sought to earn money for 

Defendant Silbert and other HQ Digital members. 

 In fact, in its first five months of existence from January 2022 through May 2022, 

HQ Cash Management invested over $100 million with Genesis Global Capital: 
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VIII. GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL’S YIELD SECURITIES 

 Beginning at least as early as July 2020, Genesis Global Capital began offering an 

investment and selling securities called “Yield Generation” (hereinafter “Genesis Yield”), which 

allowed “[h]olders of digital currencies [to] earn yield on their assets by lending directly to 

Genesis, a regulated and trusted counterparty.”  

 The following is a screenshot showing Genesis Global Capital’s website on July 

21, 2020: 

8 

 The basic terms of investment in Genesis Yield were simple: in exchange for an 

investor tendering digital assets or cash to Genesis Global Capital and granting Genesis Global 

Capital the attendant rights to use those assets or cash in Genesis Global Capital’s investment 

activities, Genesis Global Capital promised to pay the investor lucrative rates of return. 

 Genesis Yield investments made directly with Genesis Global Capital could be for 

 
8 https://web.archive.org/web/20200721225619/https://genesistrading.com/lending/ (visited July 9, 2023).ge 
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fixed terms such as six-months, or could be open-term. Genesis Global Capital referred to open 

term investments as having a “call option.” These “call options” on investments permitted an 

investor to demand repayment of all or a portion of an investment on any given business day, which 

would trigger an obligation on behalf of Genesis Global Capital to return the investor’s capital. 

 Initially, investment in Genesis Yield securities was open to public investment as 

long as an individual could meet certain investment minimums set by Genesis Global Capital. 

Although the investment minimums changed over time, Genesis Global Capital did not always 

adhere to these requirements. In November 2022, the minimums purportedly enforced by Genesis 

Global Capital were 100 BTC, 1,000 ETH, $2 million U.S. Dollars, or $1 million of certain 

alternative digital assets. 

 Beginning February 2, 2021, however, Genesis Global Capital dropped the 

investment minimum and began offering investors a way to invest any amount of digital assets in 

Genesis Yield securities via the Gemini digital asset platform. 

 Dubbed the “Gemini Earn” program on the Gemini digital asset platform, Genesis 

Global Capital began permitting any investor that held a Gemini digital asset platform account to 

elect to invest their digital assets in the Genesis Yield securities.  

 To invest, Gemini digital platform users entered into the Genesis Yield Investment 

Agreement with Genesis Global Capital and Gemini, and expressly appointed Gemini as their 

agent for purposes of their Genesis Yield investments. Genesis Yield investments made via Gemini 

Earn were open term investments, meaning that investors could redeem their investment at any 

time by giving notice to Genesis Global Capital. 

 The accrual of interest on the Genesis Yield securities were calculated using a daily 

periodic rate applied to the principal invested, and interest was paid the month after it accrued.  

Interest payments were denominated in the same type of cryptocurrency or digital asset (or cash) 
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originally invested.  

 Each Genesis Yield investor—whether or not the investment was made via the 

Gemini Earn program—entered into a Genesis Yield Investment Agreement with Genesis Global 

Capital which set forth the terms of the investment, including the types of occurrences that 

constituted events of default and what could cause termination of the agreement and required 

parties to make certain representations and warranties regarding the parties’ financial condition 

(i.e., neither party is insolvent), and more. 

 In each Genesis Yield Investment Agreement, Genesis Global Capital made the 

following representations to investors:  

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants that it is not insolvent and is not 

subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings under any applicable laws. 

(the “Solvency Warranty”) 

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants there are no proceedings pending 

or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be anticipated to have any 

adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the accuracy 

of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder. (the “Adverse 

Proceedings Warranty”). 

 Importantly, each Genesis Yield Investment Agreement executed by each Genesis 

Yield investor with Genesis Global Capital stated that the Solvency Warranty and Adverse 

Proceedings Warranty “shall continue” during the term of the investments. 

 To generate the yield promised to investors, Genesis Global Capital commingled 

and/or pooled Genesis Yield investor principal with those of other Genesis Yield investors, held 

Genesis Yield investor’s principal in accounts in Genesis Global Capital’s name or other names; 

pledged, repledged, hypothecated, rehypothecated, sold, lent, staked, arranged for staking, and 

otherwise transferred Genesis Yield investors’ digital assets separately or together with other 

property; and otherwise used or invested such digital assets or currency at the investor’s sole risk.  

 Genesis Global Capital had to engage in risky investment strategies to generate 
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yield. As just one example, Genesis Global Capital invested billions of dollars’ worth of Genesis 

Yield investors’ digital assets and cash with now-infamous digital asset hedge funds Alameda 

Research, LLC (owned by Sam Bankman-Fried) and Three Arrows Capital (previously defined 

herein as “3AC”), as well as Genesis Global Capital’s parent DCG, who themselves believed they 

would earn outsized returns with those funds via their own proprietary investment strategies. At 

the height of their relationship, Genesis Global Capital provided Alameda Research with over $6.5 

billion in capital via loans that were often only 50% secured.  

 In short, Genesis Global Capital engaged in undisclosed, unduly risky and self-

interested investment strategies with investors’ capital to earn yield. The returns earned by each 

Genesis Yield investor depended on the pooling of the invested digital assets, and importantly the 

ways in which Genesis Global Capital invested those assets. Ultimately, investor returns on 

Genesis Yield securities were dependent on Genesis Global Capital’s managerial efforts and risk 

management in investing activities. 

 The income Genesis Global Capital earned investing Genesis Yield investors’ assets 

was the only revenue-generating activity in which Genesis Global Capital engaged.  

 Although Genesis Global Capital styled Genesis Yield investors’ investments as 

“loans” to Genesis Global Capital and characterized Genesis Global Capital’s redeployment of 

those assets as a “borrowing and lending” business, in substance, Genesis Global Capital managed 

a pooled investment vehicle and/or issued note securities used to fund its own investment business.  

 Despite the economic realities of the Genesis Yield product, however, Genesis 

Global Capital made no attempt to comply with federal or state securities laws. 

 Genesis Global Capital is not licensed, registered, qualified, and did not otherwise 

file notice with the SEC. 

 Genesis Yield securities are not registered with the SEC or any other securities 
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regulatory authority, nor are they exempt from registration. 

 Genesis Global Capital failed to disclose to Genesis Yield investors that Genesis 

Yield securities were not registered with federal or state securities regulatory authorities. 

 Genesis Yield investors’ principal was thus not protected by the Securities Investor 

Protection Corporation (“SIPC”), insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), 

or insured by the National Credit Union Administration (“NCUA”). This lack of a protective 

scheme or regulatory oversight subjects Genesis Yield investors to additional risks not borne by 

investors who maintain assets with most SIPC member broker-dealers, or with banks, savings 

associations, or credit unions.  

IX. THE GENESIS YIELD INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS ARE SECURITIES. 

 An analysis of the facts and circumstances surrounding the offer and sale execution 

of Genesis Global Capital’s Genesis Yield securities, including the analysis set forth in a complaint 

filed by the SEC,9 show that the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements are: (1) “investment 

contracts” under the test set forth in S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946); and (2) “notes” 

under Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 64–69 (1990). The Genesis Yield Investment 

Agreements are also evidence of indebtedness. 

 The definition of a “security” under the Securities Act includes a wide range of 

investment vehicles, including “investment contracts” and “notes.”  An “investment contract” is 

an investment of money in a common enterprise with a reasonable expectation of profits derived 

from the entrepreneurial or managerial efforts of others. Congress defined “security” broadly to 

embody a “flexible rather than a static principle, one that is capable of adaptation to meet the 

countless and variable schemes devised by those who seek the use of the money of others on the 

 
9 SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC and Gemini Trust Company, LLC, Case No. 1:23-cv-00287, ECF No. 1 

(S.D.N.Y) (“SEC Enforcement Action”). As noted in the SEC Enforcement Action, “digital asset” is another term for 

crypto asset, id. at fn 2, and thus both terms are used herein interchangeably.   
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promise of profits.”10  

 According to the Supreme Court, the broad definition of “security” is “sufficient to 

encompass virtually any instrument that might be sold as an investment,” because “Congress’ 

purpose in enacting the securities laws was to regulate investments, in whatever form they are 

made and by whatever name they are called.”11  

 Courts have found that novel or unique investment vehicles constitute investment 

contracts, including interests in orange groves, animal breeding programs, railroads, mobile 

phones, and enterprises that exist only on the Internet, including crypto assets.12  

 Therefore, under the definition of the Securities Act and the test articulated in Reves 

and Howey, the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements as offered and sold by Genesis Global 

Capital were securities subject to the federal securities laws.  

A. THE GENESIS YIELD INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS ARE NOTES 

UNDER REVES. 

 A note is a type of debt security that, as done in the Genesis Yield Investment 

Agreements, represents a promise to pay a specific amount of money at a specified time or on 

demand.  

 A note is presumed to be security unless it bears a strong resemblance to 

instruments that are not securities, which courts determine by examining four factors: (1) the 

motivation of the parties; (2) the plan of distribution; (3) the expectations of the investing public; 

and (4) the availability of an alternative regulatory scheme that “significantly reduces the risk of 

the instrument” for investors other than securities laws, “thereby rendering application of the 

Securities Acts unnecessary.”13  

 
10 Id., at ¶ 19 (citing S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946)). 
11 Id. (citing SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 393 (2004)). 
12 Id.  
13 Id., at ¶ 44 (citing Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 64–69 (1990)). 
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 Under the test articulated in Reves, the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements were 

notes that were offered and sold by Genesis Global Capital as securities.  

i. Motivations of Genesis Yield Securities Investors  

 Genesis Global Capital offered and sold the Genesis Yield securities to obtain 

digital assets, cash, and other capital to use in its business – namely, to run its investment activities, 

generate profits for itself, and to pay the interest promised to Genesis Yield investors. 

 Genesis Yield securities investors—including those who invested through the 

Gemini Earn program—were primarily interested in the profit they expected the Genesis Yield 

product to generate.14 

 In other words, Genesis Global Capital sought to generate enough revenue to (1) 

return profits to Genesis Global Capital, Defendant DCG, and Defendant Silbert; and (2) to pay 

interest to Genesis Yield securities investors.  

 Genesis Global Capital, at the direction and subject to the control of Defendants 

Moro, Islim, DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy, controlled the 

digital assets invested by purchasers of Genesis securities. 

 Genesis Global Capital controlled the crypto assets it obtained from investors and 

had complete discretion in determining how much to hold, lend and otherwise use. Genesis Global 

Capital used the crypto assets it raised from investors to make loans to institutional borrowers or 

as collateral for Genesis Global Capital’s own borrowing. Genesis also had the discretion to hold 

the assets on its balance sheet to provide Genesis with liquidity to meet potential demand for loans 

as well as to repay the investors in its crypto asset program.15   

 In turn, Plaintiffs and members of the Class invested in Genesis Yield securities 

primarily for profit, i.e., to receive a return on their crypto assets. Genesis and Gemini both touted 

 
14 Id., at ¶ 45. 
15 Id., at ¶ 46. 
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the profits investors could earn by investing their crypto assets with Genesis, including for 

example, by advertising Gemini Earn as an investment and touting that investors could receive up 

to 8.05% annual percentage yield (“APY”) on their crypto assets. Investors who purchased Genesis 

securities were led to expect that by tendering and giving control over their crypto assets to 

Genesis, they would receive profit in the form of interest on those assets.16 

 Thus, representations made by Genesis Global Capital to Genesis Yield investors 

in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements caused Plaintiffs and members of the Class to invest 

their digital assets with the expectation of profits in the form of interest on those digital assets.  

ii. Distribution Plan of Genesis Yield  

 Genesis Global Capital publicly advertised Genesis Yield securities on its own 

websites, third party websites and social media.  

 Genesis Yield securities were offered and sold directly to investors and through the 

Gemini Earn Program.  

 As of November 16, 2022, over 340,000 investors, most residing in the United 

States, had crypto assets invested in Genesis Yield through Genesis Yield Investment 

Agreements.17  

iii. Expectations of the Investing Public  

 Genesis Global Capital and Gemini, through websites and social media, promoted 

Genesis Yield securities as an investment, specifically as a way to earn high “returns” or “yield” 

on investors digital assets.18  

 Gemini repeatedly described the Gemini Earn as an investment on its own website 

and social media and repeatedly touted that the Gemini Earn interest rates were “among the highest 

 
16 Id., at ¶ 47. 
17 Id., at ¶ 25. 
18 Id., at ¶ 50.  
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rates on the market” and “higher than most existing options.” Gemini’s website further claimed 

that Gemini Earn investors could “receive more than 100x the national interest rate.”19  

 The economic realities of the transaction, in which investors had an opportunity to 

tender crypto assets with Genesis in exchange for earning interest with some of the “highest rates” 

available for crypto assets, further underscore why the investing public considered Genesis Yield 

to be an investment opportunity.20  

iv. No Risk Reducing Factors Exist  

 No alternative regulatory scheme or risk-reducing factors existed to protect 

investors with respect to Genesis Yield investment.21  

 For example, in its own FAQs, Genesis Global Capital noted that “[d]igital assets 

are not covered by SIPC [(Securities Industry Protection Corporation)] insurance” and that 

“[e]stablishing a lending and borrowing relationship with Genesis is not the same as opening a 

depository account or a savings account” and that “[a]ccounts with Genesis do not enjoy FDIC 

protection.”22  

 Similarly, although Gemini is registered with NYSDFS as a New York limited 

purpose trust company, NYSDF did not have oversight over Genesis Global Capital. 

 Similarly, NYDFS did not have oversight over DCG, or Silbert.23  

 These statements, and facts, demonstrate that alternative regulatory schemes 

provided no protection for Genesis Yield investors.  

B. THE GENESIS YIELD INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS ARE 

INVESTMENT CONTRACTS UNDER HOWEY.  

 The offer and sale of the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements constitutes the offer 

 
19 Id.  
20 Id.  
21 Id., at ¶ 51.  
22 Id.  
23 Id., at ¶ 52. 
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and sale of investment contracts under Howey.24  

 Digital assets qualify as “money” under the federal securities laws. Genesis Yield 

therefore involved an investment of money.  

 Between February 2021 and November 2022, Genesis Global Capital raised 

billions of dollars from hundreds of thousands of investors, who tendered crypto assets to Genesis 

under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements.25  

 Investors in Genesis Yield invested in a common enterprise with other investors. 

Genesis Global Capital pooled Genesis Yield investors’ digital assets on Genesis Global Capital’s 

balance sheet, and invested those assets in order to generate returns for both Genesis Global Capital 

and investors.26  

 Genesis Global Capital then invested the pooled digital assets in ways designed to 

generate returns for DCG, Silbert, Genesis Global Capital, and investors.  

 As the invested crypto assets were not segregated in any way by Genesis Global 

Capital, each investor’s fortune was tied to the fortunes of the other investors.27  

 Genesis Yield investors’ fortunes were also tied to Genesis Global Capital’s 

fortunes; both Genesis Global Capital and investors earned profits when Genesis Global Capital 

deployed the pooled assets.28  

 Similarly, Genesis Global Capital’s suffering of losses and entering bankruptcy has 

harmed Plaintiffs and members of the Class by restricting their ability to access their digital assets.  

 
24 Id., at ¶ 56. 
25 Id., ¶ 57. 
26 Id., ¶¶ 58-59. 
27 Id. ¶ 59.  
28 Id. ¶ 60. 
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C. STATE AND FEDERAL REGULATORS HAVE CONCLUDED IDENTICAL 

INVESTMENT PRODUCTS ARE “SECURITIES” AS DEFINED BY STATE 

AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS 

 Over the past 18 months, the SEC and numerous state securities regulators have 

evaluated investment products offered by other companies that are nearly identical to the Genesis 

Yield securities and have concluded that the products constitute “securities.” 

 For example, Nexo, Inc., Nexo Capital Inc., and Nexo Financial, LLC (collectively, 

“Nexo”) offered and sold the Nexo Earn Interest Product (“EIP”) accounts, which “allowed United 

States investors to tender to Nexo certain crypto assets, which Nexo deposited in interest-yielding 

accounts and then used in various ways to generate income for its own business and to fund interest 

payments to EIP investors,” including “staking, lending, and engaging in arbitrage on purportedly 

‘decentralized’ finance platforms; investing in certain crypto assets; loaning funds to retail and 

institutional borrowers; and entering into options and swap contracts with respect to the crypto 

assets tendered.” 

a) The SEC determined that the EIP accounts were unregistered securities, and as 

a result, Nexo agreed to cease offer and sale thereof and pay a $22.5 million 

fine.   

b) Eight state regulators similarly determined that the EIP accounts were 

securities, including the: 

 California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation;    

 State of Vermont Department of Financial Regulation;   

 State of Oklahoma Department of Securities;   

 South Carolina Attorney General, as Securities Commissioner;  

 Commonwealth of Kentucky Public Protection Cabinet, Department of 

Financial Institutions, Division of Securities;  
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 Securities Division of the Office of the Maryland Attorney General;  

 State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions, Securities 

Division; and 

 Office of Attorney General of New York. 

 BlockFi Lending LLC (“BlockFi”) “offered and sold BlockFi Interest Accounts 

(“BIAs”) to investors, through which investors lend crypto assets to BlockFi in exchange for 

BlockFi’s promise to provide a variable monthly interest payment,” was generated and paid out to 

investors “in various ways, including loans of crypto assets made to institutional and corporate 

borrowers, lending U.S. dollars to retail investors, and by investing in equities and futures.”29 

a) The SEC determined that the BIAs were securities because they were notes 

under Reves and investment contracts under Howey.30 As a result, BlockFi 

agreed to pay a $50 million penalty.31  

b) The State of New Jersey Bureau of Securities also found that BlockFi’s BIAs 

are “unregistered securities in the form of cryptocurrency interest-earning 

accounts.”32 BlockFi agreed to pay a $50 million penalty to state regulators in 

all fifty states (including New Jersey) as well Washington D.C., Puerto Rico, 

and the Virgin Islands, as participants in the North American Securities 

Administrators Association.33  

 
29 Order Instituting Cease-And Desist Proceedings, In the Matter of BlockFi Lending, LLC, SEC Administrative 

Proceeding File No. 3-20785, https://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/2022/33-11029.pdf. 
30 Id.  
31 BlockFi Agrees to Pay $100 Million in Penalties and Pursue Registration of its Crypto Lending Product, SEC (Feb. 

14, 2022) https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2022-26. 
32  In the Matter of BlockFi Inc., BlockFi Lending, LLC, and BlockFi Trading, LLC, New Jersey Attorney General 

Office, https://www.nj.gov/oag/newsreleases21/BlockFi-Cease-and-Desist-Order.pdf 
33 Acting AG Platkin: Cryptocurrency Lending Platform BlockFi Agrees to $100 Million Settlement with State and 

Federal Securities Regulators, New Jersey Attorney General Office (Feb. 14, 2022), https://www.njoag.gov/acting-

ag-platkin-cryptocurrency-lending-platform-blockfi-agrees-to-100-million-settlement-with-state-and-federal-

securities-regulators/; see also BlockFi Agrees to Pay $100 Million in Penalties and Pursue Registration of its Crypto 

Lending Product, SEC (Feb. 14, 2022), https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2022-26. 
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 Voyager Digital Ltd., Voyager Digital Holdings, Inc., and Voyager Digital LLC 

(collectively, “Voyager”) offered and sold Voyager Interest Accounts, through which investors 

opened accounts by transferring cryptocurrency or other digital assets to Voyager, “use[d] their 

principal to buy and trade more than 90 … digital assets,” and then earned “interest on their 

purchase of certain digital assets” at a rate set by Voyager.  Several state enforcement agencies 

found that the Voyager Interest Accounts constituted securities under their respective state laws, 

including the:  

a) Texas State Securities Board;  

b) Securities Division of the Office of the Attorney General of the State of South 

Carolina;    

c) State of New Jersey Bureau of Securities;   

d) State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions Securities Division;   

e) State of Oklahoma Department of Securities; and 

f) State of Vermont Department of Financial Regulation.   

 Celsius Network, Inc., Celsius Network Limited, Celsius US Holding, LLC, 

Celsius Network, LLC, and Celsius Lending, LLC (collectively, “Celsius”) offered and sold 

interest-earning accounts, known as the “Earn Rewards” program, through which investors “open 

accounts by transferring eligible cryptocurrency to [Celsius] to invest in Celsius Earn Interest-

Bearing Accounts” and relinquish control of the cryptocurrency, in exchange for earning “lucrative 

interest rates.”  Several state regulatory agencies took action, finding that the Earn Interest-Bearing 

Accounts reward program constituted the offer and sale of unregistered securities, including the:  

a) Texas State Securities Board;   

b) State of New Jersey Bureau of Securities;  

c) State of Vermont Department of Financial Regulation;   
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d) State of Alabama Securities Commission;  

e) Commonwealth of Kentucky; and 

f) State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions, Securities Division.  

 Coinbase, Inc. and Coinbase Global Inc. (collectively, “Coinbase”) planned to offer 

a program called “Coinbase Lend,” allowing “eligible customers to earn interest on select assets 

on Coinbase, starting with 4% APY on USD Coin (USDC)” by, specifically, investors “lending the 

USDC they hold on Coinbase’s platform” and earning interest from their participation.  The SEC 

issued a Wells notice to Coinbase about its Lend program, advising that after assessing under 

Howey and Reves, the SEC will sue Coinbase if the program launches, because such a program 

would constitute a security.  

X. SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS  

 The Securities Act claims expressly do not make any allegations of fraud or scienter 

and do not incorporate any of the allegations contained in Section XI of this complaint or any other 

allegations of scienter and fraud. 

 The federal securities laws require offers and sales of securities to be registered 

with the SEC unless an exemption from registration applies and to additionally require issuers to 

provide a slate of disclosures informing investors of the risks of investing.  

 Specifically, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act require that an issuer like 

Genesis Global Capital file a registration statement with the SEC in order to offer or sell securities, 

including notes and investment contracts, unless an exemption from registration applies.  

 Genesis Global Capital did not seek exemption from registration with the SEC.  

 Genesis Global Capital never had a registration statement filed or in effect with the 

SEC regarding Genesis Yield securities.  

 Plaintiffs and members of the Class were harmed by the failure to register the offer 
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and sale of Genesis Yield securities because Genesis Global Capital’s public disclosures contained 

selective or no information about Genesis Global Capital’s financial history, audited financial 

statements, management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, 

and ability to generate profits.  

 Genesis Yield investors had limited or inadequate information about Genesis 

Global Capital’s operations, financial condition, liquidity, risks, related party transactions and 

other factors relevant in considering whether to invest in Genesis Yield securities.  

 Plaintiffs and members of the Class lacked full and detailed information regarding 

how Genesis Global Capital deployed their crypto assets, including its exposure to volatility in 

crypto asset markets, the financial condition of Genesis Global Capital’s counterparties, and the 

amount of collateral Genesis Global Capital obtained, if any, as part of its loans to institutional 

borrowers, and related party transactions.  

 Because of the above-described conduct Genesis Yield investors lacked 

information about Genesis Global Capital that the SEC requires issuers to provide under the 

Securities Act when they offer or sell securities to the investing public.  

 On January 12, 2023, the SEC Enforcement Action was filed against non-parties 

Genesis Global Capital and Gemini for engaging “in an unregistered offer and sales of securities 

to U.S. retail investors, in violation of the federal securities laws” by offering the Genesis Yield 

securities via the Gemini Earn program. 

 In the SEC Enforcement Action, the SEC alleges that Genesis Yield investors who 

invested via the Gemini Earn program entered into Genesis Yield Investment Agreements with 

Genesis Global Capital and Gemini, and Genesis Global Capital “pooled the crypto assets from 

[Genesis Yield] investors with assets from other investors. Genesis then deployed the crypto assets 

– primarily by lending the crypto assets to institutional counterparties (‘Institutional Borrowers’) 
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– in order to generate revenue for its business, including the revenue necessary to pay interest to 

[Genesis Yield] investors. Genesis earned revenue by lending the crypto assets at a higher rate than 

it paid to [Genesis Yield] and other investors.”  

 The SEC alleges the conduct described in the preceding paragraph “were securities 

that Genesis . . . offered and sold to the investing public … without registering the offer and sale 

with the SEC as required by the federal securities laws.”  

 As a result, the SEC alleges, Genesis Yield investors such as Plaintiffs lacked 

material information about the risks of their investment in the Genesis Yield investment products, 

and have suffered significant harm as a result of Genesis Global Capital’s conduct, losing access 

to approximately $900 million-worth of digital assets.  

 Section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act provides in relevant part: “Any person who 

offers or sells a security in violation of section 77e of this title … shall be liable … to the person 

purchasing such security from him, who may sue either at law or in equity in any court of 

competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon, 

less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages 

if he no longer owns the security.” 15 U.S.C. § 77l(a)(1). 

XI. EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS  

A. EXCHANGE ACT DEFENDANTS CAUSED GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL 

TO FRAUDULENTLY MISREPRESENT ITS RISK-MANAGEMENT 

PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE 

ACT AND SEC RULE 10b-5.  

 According to Gemini, the agent for Genesis Yield investors who invested via the 

Gemini Earn program, from at least February 2, 2021, Genesis Global Capital—in concert with 

Exchange Act Defendants and with Exchange Act Defendants’ active support and 

encouragement—induced the Genesis Yield investors who invested via the Gemini Earn program 

to invest by touting Genesis Global Capital’s purportedly robust risk-management practices and a 
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supposedly thorough vetting process of the counterparties to which it re-lent the assets.  

 Gemini has stated that when Genesis Global Capital sought to solicit Genesis Yield 

investment from Gemini users, Genesis Global Capital shared its “Overview of Enterprise Credit 

Risk Management” (the “Overview”) with Gemini, the agent of Gemini users who invested in 

Genesis Yield. 

 The Overview, according to Gemini, declared that Genesis Global Capital had 

“many levers to pull to ensure Genesis Global Capital is well protected, including collateral, 

calculated exposure limits based on quantitative and qualitative due-diligence, margin 

management, ongoing transparency and financial updates, and macro hedging tools.” It 

emphasized Genesis Global Capital’s “ability to responsibly manage credit risk and face zero 

defaults” and to “maintain a consistently high level of creditworthiness across our entire loan 

portfolio.” 

 In the Overview, Genesis Global Capital represented to Gemini that, “[a]side from 

credit extension, Genesis [Global Capital] primarily lends on an ‘over-collateralized’ basis – i.e., 

the collateral pledged exceeds the value of the loan.” With respect to unsecured credit, Genesis 

Global Capital promised Gemini—who would serve as the agent for Gemini users that chose to 

invest in Genesis Yield—that “it would not extend credit unless we believe it’s rightfully earned 

and appropriate within the context of the relationship, trade, and time of issuance.” 

 Genesis Global Capital used the Overview to give Gemini the misimpression that 

Genesis Global Capital was a responsible financial institution, representing purportedly sound 

risk-management practices and a safe, over-collateralized loan book. 

 These representations to the agent of Genesis Yield investors who invested through 

Gemini Earn caused hundreds of thousands of investors to invest in Genesis Yield, believing that 

Genesis Global Capital observed sound risk management and counterparty risk policies. 
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i. Digital Asset Market Turmoil Wipes Out Digital Asset Investment 

Firms. 

 Genesis Global Capital’s representations regarding its risk-management practices 

made to Gemini were lies. As it turned out, Genesis Global Capital was recklessly lending huge 

amounts to a counterparty that Exchange Act Defendants knew was using these huge amounts to 

fuel a risky arbitrage trading strategy (the “Grayscale Trade”). 

 Defendants DCG and Silbert were all too willing to facilitate feeding that 

counterparty billions of dollars’ worth of Genesis Yield investors’ assets, because this arbitrage 

had the effect of massively increasing the AUM of, and fees earned by, Grayscale, another DCG 

subsidiary. As Grayscale’s AUM swelled by billions of dollars’ worth of bitcoin, so too did the 

improbably large fees Grayscale earned for managing it—totaling a staggering $615.42 million in 

2021 alone, a windfall that inured to the benefit of Defendants DCG and Silbert. 

 The Grayscale Trade was designed to capture the premium GBTC was trading at 

compared to the spot price of Bitcoin.  

 The mechanics of the Grayscale Trade worked as follows: an investor like 3AC 

could borrow to source bitcoin, contribute that bitcoin to Grayscale in exchange for new GBTC 

shares, hold the GBTC shares for the required holding period, and then sell the GBTC shares at a 

premium in order to repay the bitcoin loan taken out to source the bitcoin and keep the difference 

between the price paid for the bitcoin and the amount they sold the GBTC shares for (the “GBTC 

Premium”): 
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THE GRAYSCALE TRADE 

 

 The success of the Grayscale Trade depended on GBTC shares continuing to trade 

at a premium to the NAV of the trust once the six-month holding period for new GBTC shares had 

run. 

 It was in Defendants DCG’s (and Silbert’s) interest to fuel the creation of new 

GBTC shares in this reckless manner because Grayscale receives significant compensation as the 

sponsor of GBTC. As discussed above, Grayscale receives a 2% management fee for administering 

the trust’s operations, which is calculated by reference to the NAV—i.e., the market value of its 

underlying bitcoin holdings. This means that the issuance of new GBTC shares—which requires 

the contribution of new bitcoin into the trust—increases the fee that is paid to Grayscale. And 

because operation of GBTC requires only trivial expenses, that fee is nearly all profit for 

Grayscale—and ultimately for Defendant DCG, its corporate parent, and Defendant Silbert, 

DCG’s controlling shareholder.  

 The digital asset hedge fund 3AC was one of Genesis Global Capital primary 

counterparties and, not coincidentally, among the predominant investors in the Grayscale Trade. 
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 The evaporation of the GBTC premium, as delineated in ¶¶ 95 and 96, and its 

subsequent inversion to a discount, precipitated substantial fiscal losses for 3AC and other notable 

digital asset investors. 

 Defying conventional prudence, Defendants DCG and Silbert, along with 3AC, did 

not mitigate their exposure to GBTC; rather, they escalated their engagement with the Grayscale 

Trade with funding provided by Genesis Global Capital.  

 The dissolution of the Grayscale Premium, alongside an intensifying discount, 

exerted immense financial strain upon Defendants DCG and Silbert. It diminished the allure of 

GBTC as an investment, which in turn depressed the AUM and NAV of GBTC, thereby reducing 

the management fees Defendants DCG and Silbert anticipated to accrue from running GBTC. 

 The declining value of GBTC impinged upon Defendant DCG’s ability to secure 

financing, given Defendant DCG’s holdings of and intent to leverage GBTC as collateral in 

financing transactions. 

 In a desperate bid to counteract GBTC’s price trajectory, during the period from 

January to May 2022, and in stark violation of the risk management and counterparty evaluation 

protocols previously discussed, Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, and Lenihan compelled 

Genesis Global Capital to execute self-serving intercompany loan transactions on commercially 

unreasonable terms: Genesis Global Capital loaned $575 million in cash and digital assets to DCG 

while requiring inadequate collateral. 

 In fact, these loans were substantially under secured and were actually backed by 

GBTC shares pledged by Defendant DCG as collateral for loans earmarked to purchase more 

GBTC shares. Defendant DCG could not have secured financing on these conditions from an arm’s 

length, independent party. 
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 The $575 million that DCG borrowed from Genesis Global Capital was slated for 

repayment in May 2023. Yet, DCG failed to fulfill these obligations, neither securing an extension 

nor remedying its default. 

 The Exchange Act Defendants’ endeavors to artificially prop up the price of GBTC 

proved futile, with the GBTC discount continually broadening instead of narrowing. Consequently, 

investors possessing illiquid GBTC shares were exposed to considerable unrealized losses that 

they could not mitigate or arrest due to the lock-up period restrictions on selling their shares. 

 On June 27, 2022, 3AC was required to liquidate its assets by a British Virgin 

Islands court following default on several of its liabilities. Subsequently, on July 1, 2022, 3AC 

sought Chapter 15 bankruptcy protection within the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 

Southern District of New York. 

 3AC’s bankruptcy filings revealed it had procured billions in loans from Genesis 

Global Capital. As of July 1, 2022, 3AC was indebted to Genesis Global Capital to the tune of 

approximately $2.3 billion. Post-liquidation, 3AC’s outstanding obligation to Genesis Global 

Capital was $1.1 billion. 

 Because 3AC also owed other creditors billions of dollars, Genesis Global Capital 

would not recover any amount close to the $1.1 billion outstanding, which should have resulted in 

an immediate recognition of a substantial impairment of the 3AC debt on Genesis Global Capital’s 

balance sheet.  

 The insolvency of 3AC sent shockwaves through the digital asset market, inducing 

a credit crunch that detrimentally impacted digital asset companies like Genesis Global Capital 

and its competitors. This crisis led to several of Genesis Global Capital’s competitors filing for 

bankruptcy protection or seeking emergency lines of credit, reflecting the severity of the resultant 

turmoil. 
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B. THE EXCHANGE ACT DEFENDANTS CAUSED GENESIS GLOBAL 

CAPITAL TO FRAUDULENTLY CONCEAL ITS INSOLVENCY IN 

VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SEC 

RULE 10b-5.  

 The economic reality of Genesis Global Capital’s situation should have caused the 

Exchange Act Defendants to cause Genesis Global Capital to declare itself insolvent and either 

seek recapitalization or restructuring. Instead, the Exchange Act Defendants caused Genesis 

Global Capital to dubiously maintain that 3AC’s $1.1 billion debt to Genesis Global Capital was 

still worth $1.1 billion. 

 According to Defendant Silbert, he along with Defendants DCG, Hutchins and 

Lenihan determined to support Genesis Global Capital by assuming the 3AC bankruptcy claim 

and replacing it with the DCG Promissory Note: “DCG and its board determined that it was in the 

best interest of Genesis [Global Capital], its lenders, and DCG to try to help support Genesis 

[Global Capital].”34 

 Accordingly, on June 30, 2022, the Exchange Act Defendants caused Genesis 

Global Capital to “sell” 3AC’s debt to Genesis Global Capital to DCG in exchange for the DCG 

Promissory Note executed by Defendant Silbert to Genesis Global Capital for $1.1 billion due in 

10 years at an interest rate of 1%. 

 This June 30, 2022 “sale,” however, was a sham. There was no exchange of money 

and no movement of capital. Moreover, this sale could never have occurred between two parties 

negotiating at arm’s length for at least three reasons:  

 First, the 3AC debt was not worth $1.1 billion at the time, and is not worth $1.1 

billion now. The odds of Genesis Global Capital or DCG collecting anything near the full value of 

the debt were and remain incredibly low, and no party negotiating at arm’s length with Genesis 

 
34 Barry Silbert, Q&A, https://dcgupdate.com/ (Jan. 10, 2023) (emphasis added). 
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Global Capital would have valued the debt at $1.1 billion.  

 Second, even if the debt were worth $1.1 billion, the terms of payment were simply 

not competitive with the financing terms DCG would have received from a nonrelated party. No 

party other than a subsidiary completely controlled by Defendants DCG and Silbert would have 

“sold” a $1.1 billion debt for a 10-year promissory note at 1% interest.  

 Third, given the first two realities, there is simply no reasonable possibility the 

resulting DCG Promissory Note from DCG is worth anything close to $1.1 billion. According to 

Gemini, given the duration of the note and the underlying economic realities, the “note would be 

heavily discounted (approximately 70%) to reflect its value as of today (perhaps $300 million).” 

 In fact, on July 11, 2023 Genesis Global Capital itself filed a Notice of Filing of 

Exhibit to Disclosure Statement in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action which estimated the value of 

the DCG Promissory Note between $90 million (a 92% discount) to $323 million (a 70% 

discount).35  

 The DCG Promissory Note was a sham because the loan was uncollectable, and the 

economic reality was that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent at the time Defendants DCG and 

Silbert caused Genesis Global Capital to execute the DCG Promissory Note. 

 Worse, after Defendant Silbert executed the DCG Promissory Note on June 30, 

2022, Defendants Moro, Islim, Ballensweig, Kraines and Murphy caused Genesis Global Capital 

at the direction of and/or subject to the control of Defendant DCG, Silbert, Hutchins and Lenihan 

to disseminate misleading and false financial statements to prospective and existing investors, 

directly or via their designated agent, Gemini.  

 According to Gemini, for example, on July 6th, [2022,] Defendant Moro, then-CEO 

of Genesis, tweeted: “DCG has assumed certain liabilities of Genesis [Global Capital] related to 

 
35 In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case No.: 23-10063, ECF No. 488 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) 
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[3AC] to ensure we have the capital to operate and scale our business for the long-term.” This 

statement was false and misleading. In reality, DCG had not ensured that Genesis Global Capital 

had the capital to operate. In fact, DCG had not given Genesis Global Capital so much as a penny 

of actual funding to make up for the 3AC losses. Instead, DCG entered into a 10-year promissory 

note with Genesis Global Capital at an interest rate of 1% — due in 2032. This note was a complete 

gimmick that did nothing to improve Genesis Global Capital’s immediate liquidity position or 

make its balance sheet solvent (more on this later).”  As described above, no cash, capital, or assets 

changed hands from DCG to Genesis Global Capital.  

 The same day—July 6, 2022—representatives of Genesis Global Capital and/or 

GGT spoke to Gemini representatives (the “July 6 Call”). People participating from Gemini 

wanted accurate information about Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. 

  During the July 6 Call, Genesis Global Capital representatives made false and 

misleading statements about Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. These included false 

statements about Genesis Global Capital’s assets and the nature of the collateral it was holding 

against loans Genesis Global Capital had made. 

 Following the July 6 Call, Defendant Ballensweig sent an email to Gemini (the 

“July 6 Email”) attaching three documents. The July 6 Email and its attachments contained 

multiple false statements. 

 One attachment to the July 6 Email is a document entitled “Three Arrows Post-

Mortem.” This document stated, in part: 

We previously stated in June that we mitigated our losses with respect to a large 

counterparty who failed to meet a margin call. Now that the BVI bankruptcy 

process has commenced, we can confirm that the counterparty was Three Arrows 

Capital. 

The loans to this counterparty had a weighted average margin requirement of over 

80%. Once they were unable to meet the margin call requirements, we immediately 

sold collateral and hedged our downside. 
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Since then, we worked with DCG to find the optimal strategy to further isolate the 

risk. DCG has assumed certain liabilities of Genesis related to this counterparty to 

ensure we have the capital to operate and scale our business for the long-term. 

(Emphasis added.) 

 Statements in the “Three Arrows Post-Mortem” were false. It was not true that 

“DCG has assumed certain liabilities of Genesis.” It was not true that Genesis Global Capital 

ensured that it had the “capital to operate . . . for the long term.” 

 The second document attached to the July 6 Email is entitled “Gemini Risk Metric 

Request” and has a section titled “Financial Position per Asset.” It included the following table: 

 

 The table in the Gemini Risk Metric Request document is a fraud, because it 

includes the DCG Promissory Note as a “Current Asset” (within “Other Assets”). 

 As a matter of generally accepted accounting principles—and common 

understanding—a “current asset” refers to cash and other resources that are reasonably expected 

to be realized in cash within a one-year period.36 The term thus specifically excludes amounts that 

are owed by an affiliate but are not collectible in the ordinary course of business within a year.37 

  By including the promissory note at its full-face value within the category of 

“Current Assets,” Genesis falsely represented that there was $1.1 billion in value on its balance 

sheet that could be collected in cash within one year. The promissory note is worth only a fraction 

 
36 See, e.g., FASB Accounting Standards Codification ¶¶ 210-10-45-1, 210-10-45-3. 
37 See, e.g., FASB Accounting Standards Codification ¶ 210-10-45-1.d; id. ¶ 210-10-45-4.c (“current assets” do not 

encompass “Receivables arising from unusual transactions (such as . . . loans or advances to affiliates, officers, or 

employees) that are not expected to be collected within 12 months.”). 
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of its notional value and does not mature for 10 years. The note is plainly not a current asset, but 

Genesis Global Capital falsely presented it as one in order to prevent Gemini Earn investors’ 

appointed agent Gemini from pulling Gemini Earn investments from Genesis Global Capital. 

 It is not a matter of conjecture that the DCG Promissory Note is included in the 

“Current Assets” category in the Financial Position per Asset table. Gemini specifically inquired 

about this and received more lies from Genesis in response. 

 On July 27, 2022, a Gemini representative sent Genesis an email inquiring about 

the “Other Assets” row in the “Current Assets” column (as depicted by Genesis in a subsequent 

iteration of the Financial Position per Asset table) and highlighted it: 

 

 According to Gemini, on July 27, 2022, Gemini asked Genesis Global Capital: “Do 

we know what’s included in the $2.2bn other assets? Are they all crypto or a mix of crypto and 

non-crypto? Can you please shed some light on this?” 

 On July 28, 2022, a Genesis Global Capital employee sent the following response: 

“Other assets” is a real-time metric where we looked to replicate, digital currency 

loans receivable on a real-time basis. This is comprised of a $500mm in alts, 

$500mm Grayscale shares, $1.1bn in receivables from related parties. 

 Genesis Global Capital’s July 28, 2022 statement thus confirms that the $1.1 billion 

DCG Promissory Note was included in the “Other Assets” row in the “Current Assets” column 

represented on the documents given to Gemini. That was fraudulent. The DCG Promissory Note 

was not “receivable on a real-time basis.” 
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 In addition, the Risk Metric report shared with Gemini on July 6 contained another 

section, labeled “Loan Book Metrics,” in which Genesis Global Capital purported to provide 

information regarding (among other things) the weighted average duration of its outstanding 

portfolio of loans. 

 The Loan Book Metrics table stated, falsely, that the overall weighted average 

duration of Genesis Global Capital’s outstanding loans was just 54.3 days: 

 

 Genesis Global Capital’s statement that the weighted average duration of its 

outstanding loans was just 54.3 days was yet another fraud, because that calculation excluded the 

$1.1 billion DCG Promissory Note and its 10-year duration. Had the DCG Promissory Note been 

included, upon information and belief, the resulting calculation would have yielded a weighted 

average loan duration of more than 765 days—approximately 14 times the figure that Genesis 

Global Capital falsely reported. 

 Genesis Global Capital excluded the DCG Promissory Note from its loan-duration 

calculations in order to conceal the existence and terms of the DCG Promissory Note from Genesis 

Global Capital’s investors, thereby misrepresenting its true financial position. 

 Another attachment to the July 6 Email purported to be Genesis Global Capital’s 

balance sheet as of June 30, 2022. This document also materially misrepresented Genesis Global 

Capital’s financial condition. 
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 As with the “Financial Position per Asset” table, the balance sheet did not disclose 

the existence of the $1.1 billion promissory note. Instead, apparently, the note was included as an 

asset on the balance sheet in a line item labeled “Receivable from related parties”—which had a 

stated value of approximately $1.137 billion. The note was included on the balance sheet at its full 

face value of $1.1 billion, even though, as discussed above, its true fair value was only a small 

fraction of that amount.  

 The purpose of misrepresenting the note’s value is obvious: despite including the 

note at its full face value, the balance sheet showed “Total member’s equity” of just $92.5 million. 

If the DCG Promissory Note had been included on the balance sheet at any reasonable estimate of 

its fair value, it would have disclosed that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent by at least 

hundreds of millions of dollars. 

 In the following weeks and months, Genesis Global Capital made numerous other 

false statements to Gemini. These included, for example, updates to the false “Risk Metric” 

document described above, which contained the same Financial Position per Asset table that 

falsely included the DCG Promissory Note as a Current Asset. These updates were shared on a 

regular (sometimes daily) basis with Gemini. 

C. EXCHANGE ACT DEFENDANTS DIRECTLY MISREPRESENTED 

GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL’S FINANCIAL POSITION TO INVESTORS 

 The Exchange Act Defendants directly misled Genesis Global Capital investors and 

the appointed agent of Gemini Earn users via false financial reporting. 

  As an initial matter, although Defendant DCG should and could have corrected 

Defendant Moro’s public statements regarding the nature of DCG’s support for Genesis Global 

Capital, see supra, at ¶ 231, it failed to do so. Defendant DCG knew, or had reason to know, that 

Genesis Global Capital investors would rely on Moro’s statements regarding Defendant DCG’s 

support. Defendant DCG’s silence in the face of Moro’s misstatements demonstrates that 
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Defendant DCG likewise intended to mislead Genesis Yield investors. 

 Even more troubling, key DCG officers and employees directly participated in the 

effort to mislead. For example, on July 18, 2022, in response to an email exchange with another 

Genesis Yield investor regarding the possibility of a parent guaranty of Genesis Global Capital’s 

borrowing from DCG, Defendant Ballensweig suggested the investor’s representative speak with 

DCG’s then-COO, Defendant Murphy. Defendant Ballensweig stated: “I’ve broached the topic of 

a guarantee with [Defendant] Mark Murphy, DCG’s COO and before we get there, I think it would 

make sense for you guys to set up a call to go through how DCG has viewed the loss and their 

plans to support Genesis [Global Capital] in perpetuity. There are many implications of 

establishing a formal guarantee but I think for starters you guys should hop on a call. Let me know 

if that works and we’ll set something up this week.” 

 On July 19, 2022, Defendant Murphy held a call with that investor’s representative. 

In substance, speaking on behalf of Defendant DCG, Defendant Murphy reiterated the false story 

that had previously been shared with the investor in the same “Three Arrows Post-Mortem” 

document that Genesis Global Capital had sent to Gemini. Defendant Murphy stated that 

Defendant DCG stepped in to absorb Genesis Global Capital’s losses on its 3AC exposure, and he 

stated that those losses had been netted against Defendant DCG’s balance sheet. He further stated 

that, following Defendant DCG’s support, Genesis Global Capital was well capitalized to continue 

doing business as normal in the future. And he reassured the investor that Genesis Global Capital 

was among the most important parts of the broader DCG empire, that Defendant DCG had big 

plans for Genesis Global Capital’s future business, and that DCG was committed to providing 

ongoing support to Genesis Global Capital to allow the company to continue growing. 

 Each of these statements—made by Defendant Murphy on behalf of Defendant 

DCG—was false. 
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 Genesis Global Capital’s losses were not absorbed by Defendant DCG or netted 

against Defendant DCG’s balance sheet. Genesis Global Capital was insolvent, not well 

capitalized. And, as evidenced by Defendant DCG’s failure to provide even the support that 

Genesis Global Capital had publicly claimed in the aftermath of 3AC’s collapse, Defendant DCG 

in fact had no plans to continue providing ongoing support to Genesis Global Capital in order to 

permit Genesis Global Capital to avoid failure and continue growing. 

 Defendant Murphy made these affirmative misrepresentations as part of DCG’s 

ongoing conspiracy with Genesis Global Capital. 

 Thereafter, Defendant Murphy and other DCG representatives were copied on 

email exchanges in which Genesis Global Capital continued to provide false information in 

response to the investor’s requests for information. For example, on July 26, 2022, Defendant 

Murphy, then Defendant DCG’s COO, was copied on an email exchange in which Defendant 

Ballensweig made a series of false statements in response to inquiries from the investor. Defendant 

Ballensweig explained that his response had been prepared with assistance from the “Finance and 

Accounting teams at both DCG and Genesis.” 

 As part of that response, Defendant Ballensweig provided details about 

approximately $1.8 billion in lending from Genesis Global Capital to affiliated entities that had 

been disclosed in Genesis Global Capital’s prior reports. Defendant Ballensweig falsely stated that 

Genesis Global Capital had approximately $922 million in outstanding loans to DCG—an amount 

that purposefully omitted the $1.1 billion promissory note that Defendants DCG and Silbert sought 

to conceal from Genesis Global Capital’s investors. At the same time, Defendant Ballensweig 

falsely stated that DCG had “assumed the $1.1bn loan on June 30, 2022”—a misrepresentation 

calculated to reassure the investor that Genesis Global Capital had already been made whole for 

its loss on the 3AC loans. 
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 That was entirely fictitious, but Defendant Murphy made no effort to correct 

Defendant Ballensweig’s misrepresentations. Nor did Ronald DiPrete, DCG’s Head of Special 

Projects, Finance, who was also copied on the exchange. 

 Later, on August 16, 2022, Defendant Murphy and DiPrete were copied (along with 

Jason Yacavone, a Director in DCG’s Investments group) when Genesis Global Capital’s Hamill 

Serrant sent an updated Genesis Global Capital balance sheet to the same investor. The updated 

balance sheet, dated as of July 29, 2022, once again falsely included the $1.1 billion promissory 

note at its full face value in a “Receivable from related parties” line item. Even with that false 

entry, the balance sheet showed “Total member’s equity” of just $95.4 million. And once again, 

none of DCG’s representatives lifted a finger to correct the falsehood, preferring instead to keep 

the public and Genesis Global Capital investors in the dark. 

 During this period, Defendant DCG’s representatives were repeatedly copied on 

email exchanges with Genesis Global Capital’s personnel, in which Genesis Global Capital 

provided additional information in response to the investor’s questions and requests. But DCG’s 

representatives never stated that the core premise of the parties’ discussions—namely, that DCG 

had already stepped in to absorb Genesis Global Capital’s losses from its 3AC exposure—was 

false. 

 The participation of DCG officers and employees in these communications 

demonstrates that the effort to mislead was an agreed-upon common scheme. The participation of 

DCG officers and employees in these communications also assisted Genesis Global Capital in 

misleading Genesis Global Capital investors. 

 More broadly, the basic nature of the DCG Promissory Note also demonstrates that 

Defendant DCG was a willing participant in the scheme to mislead. After 3AC’s collapse triggered 

a $1.2 billion loss for Genesis Global Capital, investors had good reason to question Genesis 
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Global Capital’s liquidity and the solvency of its balance sheet. The note was (unbeknownst to 

investors at the time) the basis of misrepresentations by Genesis that Defendant DCG had covered 

the loss. But a promissory note such as this would not be a rational response to investors’ concerns: 

The note did not provide any short-term liquidity, and (on any reasonable statement of its actual 

present value on a balance sheet basis) the note represented at most a small fraction of Genesis 

Global Capital’s loss on the 3AC loan. For both Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital, the 

promissory note made sense only if its existence and terms could be concealed—because doing so 

allowed DCG to pretend to support Genesis Global Capital, without taking on the financial cost 

that would have been required DCG to actually do so. Put simply, the terms of the promissory note 

were tailor-made to allow Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital to conspire to deceive 

Genesis Global Capital investors. 

 Eliminating any doubt that Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital worked 

hand-in-hand on the deception, multiple present or former Genesis Global Capital employees have 

stated as much in correspondence with Genesis Global Capital investors. Those communications 

specifically confirm that Defendant DCG’s and Genesis Global Capital’s finance and executive 

teams collaborated to prepare the false financial statements that were shared by Genesis Global 

Capital. 

 Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital thus agreed to the misleading financial 

presentation that would conceal the DCG Promissory Note’s existence and its terms from Genesis 

Global Capital’s investors. 

D. DEFENDANT SILBERT PERSONALLY INTERVENED TO KEEP 

INVESTORS FROM WITHDRAWING INVESTMENTS 

 Defendant Silbert—DCG’s founder and CEO—personally participated in 

perpetuating the lie that Genesis was solvent and capable of honoring its obligations. On the 

afternoon of October 13, 2022 (following several direct discussions regarding the future of the 
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Gemini Earn Program), Gemini sent an email to Genesis Global Capital providing 30 days’ notice 

of the termination of the Gemini Earn Program and the Gemini Earn MLAs. Within 24 hours, 

Defendant Silbert personally emailed Cameron Winklevoss, co-founder of Gemini, seeking a face-

to-face meeting. 

 Defendant Silbert acknowledged that his request was prompted by the uncertain 

“future of the Gemini-Genesis lending relationship.” Defendant Silbert posited that he and 

Cameron Winklevoss should be exploring “ways to take advantage of the crypto winter” and 

suggested that “there are a number of ways that Gemini-Genesis-DCG could more closely 

collaborate.” 

 Defendant Silbert’s request resulted in a lunch meeting between Cameron 

Winklevoss and Silbert at a restaurant in New York City on October 22, 2022. At that lunch 

meeting, Defendant Silbert made numerous representations designed to induce Gemini not to 

discontinue the Earn program. Silbert was aware at the time that Genesis Global Capital was 

massively insolvent, because—unbeknownst to Gemini and Genesis Global Capital investors—

DCG had provided Genesis with a 10-year promissory note rather than assuming the 3AC losses 

as had been claimed. Defendant Silbert was further aware that Defendant DCG had not provided 

meaningful near-term liquidity to Genesis Global Capital sufficient to allow Genesis Global 

Capital to honor its obligations, again contrary to statements made to Genesis Global Capital 

investors. Defendant Silbert disclosed none of those highly material facts regarding Genesis Global 

Capital’s insolvency and lack of liquidity, even as he was urging Gemini to continue the Gemini 

Earn Program. 

 Defendant Silbert did more than conceal those numerous material facts. Rather, he 

created a cover story that was designed to—and did, in fact—affirmatively misrepresent the reason 

why he was urging Gemini to continue the Earn program. Defendant Silbert represented that 
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Genesis Global Capital simply needed sufficient time to effect an orderly unwinding of its 

“complex” loan book, and that any difficulty that the termination of the Gemini Earn Program 

would cause for Genesis Global Capital was merely a mismatch in the timing of Genesis Global 

Capital’s loan positions. That is, Silbert affirmatively misrepresented that Genesis Global Capital 

faced only a short-term timing mismatch between its outstanding loans and borrowing. 

 In reality, as Defendant Silbert well knew, Genesis Global Capital’s problems ran 

far deeper than a mere “timing” issue. Genesis Global Capital had a gaping hole in its balance 

sheet, because the $1.1 billion of support that DCG had purportedly given Genesis in order to 

“assume” the Genesis 3AC losses was, in actuality, the 10-year-distant promissory note. As 

explained above, that note was worth (at most) a tiny fraction of its face value and offered no 

realistic prospect of allowing Genesis to meet its obligations as they came due. And the weighted 

average duration of Genesis’s outstanding loans was more than 765 days (or more than 2 years), 

hardly a short-term timing mismatch. Defendant Silbert pushed his cover story even further, 

suggesting that Genesis Global Capital, Defendant DCG, and Gemini should explore an 

arrangement to collaborate closely in the future. 

 Defendant Silbert’s misrepresentations had the desired effect. Relying on 

Defendant Silbert’s claims, Gemini elected to delay the termination of the Gemini Earn Program—

and not to explore the possibility of pursuing more rapid termination or other relief, as Gemini 

would have done if Defendant Silbert had stated the truth. Shortly after the meeting, Defendant 

Silbert also caused DCG to negotiate and enter into a November 10 tripartite agreement between 

and among Genesis Global Capital, Defendant DCG, and Gemini. Pursuant to that agreement, 

Defendant DCG promised to transmit additional collateral in the amount of 31,180,804 shares of 

GBTC (valued in excess of $626.1 million as of July 6, 2023) to Genesis Global Capital for the 

benefit of Gemini Earn investors. On information and belief, Defendant DCG transmitted the 
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collateral to Genesis Global Capital but did not instruct or allow Genesis Global Capital to transfer 

that collateral to Gemini as agreed.  

 But even assuming that Defendant DCG nominally fulfilled its contractual 

obligation, the real purpose of the agreement was a ruse. By purporting to demonstrate still further 

support for Genesis Global Capital’s obligations in the form of collateral—despite knowing that 

Genesis Global Capital was massively insolvent—Defendant DCG induced Gemini to continue 

the Gemini Earn Program. Gemini would not have done so if Defendants Silbert and DCG had 

come clean about Genesis Global Capital’s true financial condition, rather than repeatedly 

misrepresenting it. 

 Under these circumstances, Defendants Silbert and DCG were under a legal 

obligation not to conceal the true nature of Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. 

Defendants Silbert and DCG understood that Gemini was relying on the financial information and 

other representations provided by Genesis Global Capital—including, in particular, multiple 

assurances that Genesis Global Capital’s losses relating to 3AC had been absorbed by Defendant 

DCG—as essential facts in deciding whether to terminate the Gemini Earn Program on the 30-day 

timeline Gemini had previously communicated. Moreover, the falsity of those representations was 

not discoverable by Gemini through ordinary diligence. Thus, Defendants Silbert and DCG were 

under a legal obligation to speak the truth and to correct those misrepresentations. 

 Defendant Silbert’s partial disclosures regarding Genesis Global Capital’s financial 

condition were equivalent to actual misrepresentations—made on Defendant DCG’s behalf—

regarding Genesis Global Capital’s solvency. In particular, Defendant Silbert’s assurances that 

Genesis’s problems were a mere “timing” issue were deliberate half-truths, calculated to mislead 

Gemini into concluding that Genesis Global Capital was not in fact insolvent. 

 The above acts committed by Defendants DCG, Silbert, Moro, Islim, Ballensweig, 
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Kraines and Murphy caused Genesis Global Capital to mispresent its financial health to Plaintiffs 

via affirmative false statements made directly to investors and investors’ agent and via Genesis 

Global Capital omitting to inform investors of its insolvency when it had a duty to do so under the 

Genesis Yield Investment Agreements. 

 In connection with investors’ purchase of Genesis Yield securities, Defendants 

Moro, Islim, Ballensweig, Kraines and Murphy caused Genesis Global Capital to make the 

following representations to Plaintiffs and members of the Class via the Genesis Yield Investment 

Agreements:  

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants that it is not insolvent and is not 

subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings under any applicable laws.  

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants there are no proceedings pending 

or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be anticipated to have any 

adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the accuracy 

of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.  

 As a result of the misstatements and omissions described above, Plaintiffs and 

members of the Class purchased Genesis Yield securities. Plaintiffs and members of the Class 

would not have (nor would any reasonable investor) purchased Genesis Yield securities had they 

known Genesis Global Capital’s true financial conditions.  

E. SILBERT AND OTHER DEFENDANTS EXTRACTED HUNDREDS OF 

MILLIONS OF PERSONAL CAPITAL FROM GENESIS GLOBAL 

CAPITAL AS THEY LIED TO INVESTORS ABOUT GENESIS GLOBAL 

CAPITAL’S SOLVENCY 

 Defendant Silbert personally executed the DCG Promissory Note on behalf of 

Defendant DCG on June 30, 2022.  

 Bankruptcy filings show Defendant Silbert and other DCG and Genesis Global 

Capital insiders were extracting hundreds of millions of dollars’ worth of capital from Genesis 

Global Capital by redeeming their investments as they perpetuated the DCG Promissory note 

fraud. 
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 For example, Genesis Global Capital bankruptcy filings show that in June and July 

of 2022, Defendant Silbert personally extracted over $100 million of personal capital he had 

invested with Genesis Global Capital via HQ Cash Management Fund LP by recalling investments 

HQ Cash Management Fund LP had made in Genesis Global Capital: 

 

 The following two charts show that other Defendant DCG, Genesis Global Capital 

and GTT insiders extracted millions out of Genesis Global Capital during June and July 2022 all 

the way through November 2022 when Genesis Global Capital halted redemptions:  
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 As a former restructuring investment banker, Defendant Silbert knew that if 

Genesis Global Capital recognized its own insolvency immediately upon 3AC’s collapse in June 

2022 as it should have, it would have had to halt redemptions and potentially declare bankruptcy, 
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which would have prevented anyone, including Defendant Silbert and other Exchange Act 

Defendants, from withdrawing their capital from Genesis Global Capital. 

 Instead, at least in part to preserve access to their personal investments Exchange 

Act Defendants orchestrated the sham DCG Promissory Note transaction and used it as an excuse 

to continue to claim Genesis Global Capital was solvent while they extracted their own capital. 

F. THE TRUTH BEGINS TO BE REVEALED: GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL 

SUSPENDS REDEMPTIONS CAUSING INVESTOR LOSSES AND 

MISREPRESENTS THE REASON.  

 On November 16, 2022, Genesis Global Capital announced, via Twitter, that 

Genesis Global Capital would not permit further redemptions or new loan originations due to 

withdrawal requests exceeding Genesis Global Capital’s liquidity:  

“FTX events have created an unprecedented market, resulting in abnormal 

withdrawal requests, which have exceeded our current liquidity... In consultation 

with our professional financial advisors at counsel we have taken the difficult 

decision to temporarily suspend redemptions and the new loan origination in the 

lending business[.]”  

 The November 16, 2022 announcement misleadingly blamed FTX for Genesis 

Global Capital’s inability to honor customer redemptions instead of acknowledging that the blame 

lay with the dubious transactions and accounting methods employed by Genesis Global Capital 

and the Exchange Act Defendants.  

 In fact, Genesis Global Capital was unable to continue to process redemption 

requests because Genesis Global Capital had become insolvent when it was unable to collect $1.1 

billion of the $2.3 billion loaned to 3AC and the loan to parent Defendant DCG continued to 

decline in value.  

 Genesis Global Capital was not merely illiquid; it was insolvent. This fact was 

confirmed when, on January 19, 2023, Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, Genesis Global Capital, LLC, 

and Genesis Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., filed voluntarily petitions under Chapter 11 of the U.S. 
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Bankruptcy Code in the Southern District of New York.  

G. PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE FOR EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS 

 In connection with each purchase of Genesis Yield securities during the Class 

Period, Genesis Global Capital made the following uniform representations to Plaintiffs and 

members of the Class via the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements:  

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants that it is not insolvent and is not 

subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings under any applicable laws.  

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants there are no proceedings pending 

or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be anticipated to have any 

adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the accuracy 

of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.  

 As a result of the misstatements and omissions described above, Plaintiffs and 

members of the Class purchased Genesis Yield securities in reliance on Genesis Global Capital’s 

representations.  

 Plaintiffs and members of the Class would not have (nor would any reasonable 

investor) purchased Genesis Yield securities had they known Genesis Global Capital’s true 

financial conditions. 

 In addition, the Exchange Act Defendants made misrepresentations to the agent of 

investors who purchased Genesis Yield securities through the Gemini Earn program. 

 Plaintiffs and members of the Class who purchased Genesis Yield securities 

through the Gemini Earn program did so in reliance on Genesis Global Capital’s representations 

to their agent. Plaintiffs and members of the Class who purchased Genesis Yield securities through 

the Gemini Earn program would not have (nor would any reasonable investor) purchased Genesis 

Yield securities had they known the truth about Genesis Global Capital’s true financial conditions 

and risk management policies and procedures. 

 Moreover, Plaintiffs and the Class’s Exchange Act claims are grounded in 
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Defendants’ failure to disclose material adverse facts that Defendants had a duty to disclose.   

 Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to a presumption of reliance in accordance with 

Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972).   

 The withheld facts were material in the sense that a reasonable investor may have 

considered them important in making investment decisions.    

 A fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted 

fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total 

mix of information made available. 

 Among the material omissions Plaintiffs allege are that the Exchange Act 

Defendants did not disclose that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent. 

 Genesis Global Capital had a duty to disclose this adverse undisclosed material 

facts when it falsely and misleadingly represented to investors that “[Genesis Global Capital] 

represents and warrants that it is not insolvent and is not subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency 

proceedings under any applicable laws” and “[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants 

there are no proceedings pending or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be 

anticipated to have any adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the 

accuracy of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.”  

 The omissions alleged here are common to all Plaintiffs and none of these Plaintiffs 

were made aware of the insolvency of Genesis.   

 Plaintiffs and members of the Class would not have invested in Genesis securities 

had they known the undisclosed, material adverse facts that were not disclosed at the time of their 

investment. 

XII. CONSUMER PROTECTION CLAIMS  

 The Consumer Protection Claims (as defined below) are pled in the alternative to 
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the Securities Act and Exchange Act claims alleged herein. 

 Genesis Yield was made available to consumers, who were exposed to the 

Consumer Protection Defendants’ fraudulent marketing, advertising, and sales tactics designed to 

induce consumers to purchase, transfer, borrow, loan, and/or trade digital assets via Genesis Yield.  

 Genesis Global Capital, individually and through the Consumer Protection 

Defendants, touted Genesis Yield as an opportunity to earn money, through which consumers could 

tender digital assets in exchange for earning some of the “highest” returns or yields and the 

eventual return of their digital assets – making it an attractive opportunity to the investing public.  

 The Consumer Protection Defendants made various representations that Genesis 

Global Capital was and would remain solvent and was not and would not be subject to any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings. 

 In doing so, the Consumer Protection Defendants led consumers to expect that, by 

tendering and giving control of their digital assets to Genesis Global Capital, (1) they would 

receive profit in the form of interest on those assets, up to 8.05% annual percentage yield (“APY”), 

and (2) their digital assets would remain safe until their return.  

 Despite the Consumer Protection Defendants’ representations, the structure of 

Genesis Yield was such that Genesis Global Capital profited, not consumers, and Genesis Global 

Capital was in fact insolvent.  

 Consumers such as Plaintiffs and Class Members reasonably relied on Consumer 

Protection Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions, as set forth herein, to their detriment, 

and would not have otherwise entered into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements.   

 Consumer Protection Defendants each engaged in a wrongful scheme designed to 

mislead – and profit from – consumers such as Plaintiffs and Class Members, including but not 

limited to the following:  
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a) Defendants Moro and Ballensweig causing Genesis Global Capital, at the 

direction of and/or subject to the control of Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, 

and Lenihan, to disseminate misleading and false financial statements to 

consumers, as prospective investors, either directly or through Gemini as their 

designated agent, to induce consumers to invest their digital assets with Genesis 

Global Capital;  

b) Defendants Moro, Ballensweig, Islim, DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, 

Kraines and Murphy causing Genesis Global Capital to use consumers’ digital 

assets to engage in transactions designed to benefit the DCG conglomerate, 

including the purchase of GBTC, which Grayscale, as wholly owned subsidiary 

of DCG, received significant profit therefrom, ultimately leading DCG (as the 

corporate parent) and Silbert (as DCG’s controlling shareholder) to profit, 

rather than Genesis or Plaintiffs and Class Members;  

c) Defendants Moro, Ballensweig, Islim, DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, 

Kraines and Murphy causing Genesis Global Capital to lend almost 30% of 

Genesis Global Capital’s total loan book to 3AC in order to maximize DCG’s 

profit, rather than Genesis or Plaintiffs and Class Members; 

d) Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, and Lenihan forcing Genesis Global 

Capital to sell the 3AC bankruptcy claim and execute a sham loan transaction 

on unfavorable terms whereby the fair market value of the DCG Promissory 

Note was a fraction of its $1.1 billion face amount, it would not mature until 

2032, and it bore interest at a rate of a mere 1% – which was done for DCG’s 

profit, and to mislead consumers as to Genesis Global Capital’s financial 

standing, by artificially propping up the value of GBTC shares;  
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e) Defendant Silbert misrepresenting to Gemini, as authorized agent, that DCG 

“absorbed” 3AC losses and that Genesis Global Capital remained solvent, when 

that was not the case, in order to convince Gemini to not terminate the Gemini 

Earn Program;  

f) Defendant Moro publicly announcing on Twitter, following the collapse of 

3AC, that Genesis Global Capital had mitigated any losses due to its exposure 

and loss was “finite,” when in fact 3AC owed a large debt of $2.36 billion to 

Genesis, and Genesis suffered a loss of roughly $1.2 billion at the time 3AC’s 

liquidation commenced, and that DCG had assumed certain liabilities to ensure 

that Genesis had the capital to operate, when it had not; 

g) Defendant Moro making misleading statements as to Genesis Global Capital’s 

solvency, including that the $1.1 billion amount of the DCG Promissory Note 

on its balance sheet was a “current asset and/or receivable” when it was not; 

and  

h) Defendants Moro and Islim causing Genesis Global Capital and Defendant 

Ballensweig to disseminate balance sheets and other documents 

misrepresenting Genesis’s solvency to induce consumers to continue to invest 

in Genesis Global Capital Genesis Yield securities and/or to prevent them from 

requesting redemptions of their investments. 

 As a result of Consumer Protection Defendants’ deceptive and unfair acts or 

practices, since the start of the Class Period, Plaintiffs and Class Members, have suffered harm, 

including, inter alia, loss of access to their digital assets and nonreceipt of interest on their digital 

assets as promised. 
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CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

 Plaintiffs bring the Action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(3). 

 Plaintiffs seek class certification of the Class defined above, at ¶ 2. Plaintiffs reserve 

the right to modify or refine the definitions of the Class or add subclasses based upon discovery of 

new information.  

 Excluded from the Class are: (a) any Judge or Magistrate Judge presiding over the 

Action and members of their staff, as well as members of their families; (b) Defendants and 

Defendants’ predecessors, parents, successors, heirs, assigns, subsidiaries, and any entity in which 

any Defendant or its parents have a controlling interest, as well as Defendants’ current or former 

employees, agents, officers, and directors; (c) persons who properly execute and file a timely 

request for exclusion from the Class; (d) persons whose claims in this matter have been finally 

adjudicated on the merits or otherwise released; (e) counsel for Plaintiffs and Defendants; and (f) 

the legal representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded persons.  

 Ascertainability. The proposed Class is readily ascertainable because it is defined 

using objective criteria so as to allow class members to determine if they are a member of the 

Class. Further, the Class can be readily identified through records maintained by Genesis Global 

Capital.  

 Numerosity (Rule 23(a)(1)). The Class is so numerous that joinder of individual 

members herein is impracticable. The exact number of members of the Class, as herein identified 

and described, is not known, upon information and belief there are hundreds of thousands of 

individuals and entities that purchased Genesis Yield securities who were damaged.  

 Commonality (Rule 23(a)(2)). Common questions of fact and law exist for each 

cause of action and predominate over questions affecting only individual Class members, 
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including:  

a) Whether the Genesis Yield products were securities;  

b) Whether Genesis Global Capital was required to file a registration statement for 

the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements with the SEC;  

c) Whether an exemption from registration applied to Genesis Global Capital’s 

offer and sale of the Genesis Yield securities;  

d) Whether Genesis Global Capital violated Sections 5 and 12(a)(1) of the 

Securities Act; 

e) Whether the Securities Act Defendants were control persons under Section 15 

of the Securities Act; 

f) The means and form of rescission or appropriate measure of statutory damages 

under the Securities Act; 

g) Whether Genesis Global Capital made untrue statement of a material fact or to 

omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, 

in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

h) Whether the Exchange Act Defendants employed any device, scheme, or 

artifice to defraud, or engaged in any act, practice, or course of business which 

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person; 

i) Whether the Exchange Act Defendants acted with the requisite state of mind; 

j) Whether misstatements or omission made by Genesis Global Capital were 

material to the decision made by Plaintiffs and the Class to purchase securities 

offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital;  

k) Whether Plaintiffs and members of the Class suffered damages as a result of the 

misconduct alleged herein;  
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l) Whether the Exchange Act Defendants were control persons of Genesis Global 

Capital under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act;  

m) The appropriate measure of damages under the Exchange Act; and 

n) Whether Defendants’ conduct violated certain state consumer protection laws, 

and the appropriate measure of damages. 

 Typicality (Rule 23(a)(3)). Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the other 

members of the proposed Class. Plaintiffs and members of the Class suffered injuries as a result of 

Genesis Global Capital and Defendants’ wrongful conduct that is uniform across the Class.  

 Adequacy (Rule 23(a)(4)). Plaintiffs have and will continue to fairly and 

adequately represent and protect the interests of the Class. Plaintiffs have retained counsel 

competent and experienced in complex litigation and class actions. Plaintiffs have no interest that 

is antagonistic to those of the Class, and Defendants have no defenses unique to Plaintiffs. 

Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to vigorously prosecuting the Action on behalf of the 

members of the Class, and they have the resources to do so. Neither Plaintiffs nor Plaintiffs’ 

counsel have any interest adverse to those of the other members of the Class.  

 Substantial Benefits. This class action is appropriate for certification because class 

proceedings are superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this 

controversy and joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable. The prosecution of separate 

actions by individual members of the Class would impose heavy burdens upon the Courts and 

Defendants, would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications of the questions of law 

and fact common to members of the Class, and would be dispositive of the interests of the other 

members not parties to the individual adjudications or would substantially impair or impede their 

ability to protect their interests. This proposed class action presents fewer management difficulties 

than individual litigation, and provides the benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale, and 
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comprehensive supervision by a single court. Class treatment will create economies of time, effort, 

and expense and promote uniform decision- making.  

 Class certification, therefore, is appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because 

the above common questions of law or fact predominate over any questions affecting individual 

members of the Class, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and 

efficient adjudication of this controversy.  

 Plaintiffs reserve the right to revise the foregoing class allegations and definitions 

based on facts learned and legal developments following additional investigation, discovery, or 

otherwise.  

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF  

CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

SECTION 5, SECTION 12(a)(1) AND SECTION 15 OF THE SECURITIES ACT 

(Against the Securities Act Defendants) 

 Plaintiffs reallege the allegations above alleged in ¶¶ 13-20, 47-51, 52-61, 142-95, 

and Section X, and expressly disclaim incorporation of any allegations of fraud. 

 This claim is asserted against the Securities Act Defendants pursuant to Section 15 

of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77o.  

 This claim is based on strict liability. 

 Section 15 of the Securities Act provides: “Every person who, by or through stock 

ownership, agency, or otherwise, or who, pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or 

understanding with one or more other persons by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, 

controls any person liable under sections 77k or 77l of this title, shall also be liable jointly and 

severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom such 

controlled person is liable, unless the controlling person had no knowledge of or reasonable ground 
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to believe in the existence of the facts by reason of which the liability of the controlled person is 

alleged to exist.” Id. § 77o(a).  

 Section 5(a) of the Securities Act states: “Unless a registration statement is in effect 

as to a security, it shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly (1) to make use of any 

means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails 

to sell such security through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise; or (2) to carry or 

cause to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any means or instruments of 

transportation, any such security for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale.” 15 U.S.C. § 

77e(a).  

 Section 5(c) of the Securities Act states: “It shall be unlawful for any person, 

directly or indirectly, to make use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication 

in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of 

any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration statement has been filed as to such 

security, or while the registration statement is the subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior 

to the effective date of the registration statement) any public proceeding or examination under 

section 77h of this title.” Id. § 77e(c).  

 As alleged herein, Genesis Global Capital violated Sections 5 of the Securities Act 

by selling securities without registering the securities offering or qualifying for an exemption from 

registration.  

 Under Section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act, any person who offers or sells 

a security in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act shall be liable to the person purchasing 

such security from the offeror or seller and may sue either at law or in equity in any court of 

competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon, 

less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages 
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if the security is no longer owned.   

 As set forth above, Genesis Global Capital violated Section 5 of the Securities Act 

and is therefore liable to Plaintiffs and members of the Class under Section 12(a)(1). 

 Plaintiffs have tendered or if they have not done so already hereby tender the 

securities purchased from Genesis Global Capital. 

 But for Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, the Company would have been named 

a defendant and violations of Sections 5 and 12(a)(1) would have been asserted against it on behalf 

of Plaintiffs and the Class. 

 At the time of the violations of Sections 5 of the Securities Act by Genesis Global 

Capital alleged herein, Defendant DCG controlled Genesis Global Capital. Defendant DCG, by 

virtue of its stock ownership, agency, agreements or understandings, specific acts, and otherwise, 

had the power and authority to direct the management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and 

its employees, and to cause Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained 

of herein. Defendant DCG at the time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or 

cause the direction of the management and policies of Genesis Global Capital.  

 Defendant DCG exercised its power and influence to cause Genesis Global Capital 

to violate the Securities Act as described herein, including by promoting, soliciting, offering, and 

selling unregistered securities to Plaintiffs and members of the Class in violation of sections 5(a), 

5(c), and 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act, id. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and 77l(a)(1).  

 Defendant DCG had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to refrain 

from offering and selling unregistered securities in violation of the Securities Act.  

 Defendant DCG had reasonable grounds to believe in the existence of the facts 

alleged herein, which form the basis for Genesis Global Capital’s liability under section 12(a)(1) 

of the Securities Act.  
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 Accordingly, pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, Defendant DCG is jointly 

and severally liable for the violations of the Securities Act by Genesis Global Capital complained 

of herein and is liable to Plaintiffs and the Class for damages relating to the Genesis Yield 

securities. See id. § 77l(a)(1).  

 As CEO and founder of both Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital, and 

controlling shareholder owning 40% of the equity of DCG (which in turn owned 100% of Genesis 

Global Capital through GGH), Defendant Silbert had the power and authority to direct the 

management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis 

Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein. Defendant Silbert, at the 

time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or cause the direction of the management 

and policies of Genesis Global Capital.  

 Defendant Silbert exercised his power and influence to cause Genesis Global 

Capital to violate the Securities Act as described herein, including by directing Genesis Global 

Capital not to register as an exchange or broker-dealer prior to offering and selling securities to 

Plaintiffs and members of the Class in violation of sections 5(a), 5(c), and 12(a)(1) of the Securities 

Act, id. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and 77l(a)(1).  

 At the time of the violations of Section 5 of the Securities Act by Genesis Global 

Capital alleged herein, Defendant Silbert had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global Capital 

to refrain from offering and selling unregistered securities in violation of the Securities Act.   

 Defendant Silbert had reasonable grounds to believe in the existence of the facts 

alleged herein, which form the basis for Genesis Global Capital’s liability under Section 12(a)(1) 

of the Securities Act.  

 Accordingly, pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, Defendant Silbert is 

jointly and severally liable for the violations of the Securities Act by Genesis Global Capital 
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complained of herein and is liable to Plaintiffs and the Class for damages as to each Genesis Yield 

Investment Agreement. See id. § 77l(a)(1).  

 At the time of the violations of Sections 5 of the Securities Act by Genesis Global 

Capital alleged herein, Defendants Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy 

controlled Genesis Global Capital by virtue of their agency, agreements or understandings, specific 

acts, and otherwise, had the power and authority to direct the management and activities of Genesis 

Global Capital and its employees, and to cause Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful 

conduct complained of herein. Defendants Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy 

at the time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or cause the direction of the 

management and policies of Genesis Global Capital.  

 Defendants Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy exercised their 

power and influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to violate the Securities Act as described 

herein, including by promoting, soliciting, offering, and selling unregistered securities to Plaintiffs 

and members of the Class in violation of sections 5(a), 5(c), and 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act, id. 

§§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and 77l(a)(1).  

 Defendants Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy had sufficient 

influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to refrain from offering and selling unregistered 

securities in violation of the Securities Act.  

 Defendants Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy had reasonable 

grounds to believe in the existence of the facts alleged herein, which form the basis for Genesis 

Global Capital’s liability under section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act.  

 Accordingly, pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, Defendants Hutchins, 

Lenihan, Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy are jointly and severally liable for the violations of the 

Securities Act by Genesis Global Capital complained of herein and are liable to Plaintiffs and the 
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Class for damages relating to the Genesis Yield securities. See id. § 77l(a)(1).  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT 

AND RULE 10B-5 

(Against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro and Ballensweig) 

 Plaintiffs reallege the allegations above.  

 During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital and Defendants DCG, Silbert, 

Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro and Ballensweig violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 

10b-5. 

 But for Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, the Company would have been named 

a defendant and violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 would have been asserted against it on 

behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class. 

 Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act Section 10(b) declares it unlawful for any person 

to “use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security” a “manipulative or 

deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the [SEC] may 

prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).  

 SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes 

it unlawful for “any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumentality of 

interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange . . . [t]o 

employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud . . . [t]o make any untrue statement of a material 

fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light 

of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or . . . [t]o engage in any act, 

practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any 

person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  

 Genesis Global Capital, by the use by use of the instrumentalities of interstate 
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commerce, intentionally and/or recklessly: employed a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud 

Plaintiffs and members of the Class and their agents into investing digital assets with Genesis 

Global Capital; made untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made not misleading and/or engaged in acts, practices, 

or courses of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiffs and members of the 

Class in connection with Plaintiffs’ purchases of Genesis Yield securities under the Genesis Yield 

Investment Agreements, which constitute securities pursuant to 15 U.S.C.§ 77b(a)(1), in violation 

of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  

 Genesis Global Capital engaged in fraudulent and deceitful acts or practices by 

knowingly and intentionally, or recklessly, making materially false representations, including, but 

not limited to, its representations in documents circulated to all Genesis Global Capital investors 

and their agents describing Genesis Global Capital’s financial conditions, including its solvency. 

In fact, Genesis Global Capital knew or recklessly disregarded at the time of the statements and 

representations that it was insolvent, and that its financial condition was other than what was being 

represented to Plaintiffs and members of the Class. 

 Genesis Global Capital made these material misrepresentations or omitted to 

disclose the material facts with the intention of deceiving the investing public, including Plaintiffs 

and members of the Class and their agents, and inducing Plaintiffs and members of the Class to 

continue to invest digital assets with Genesis Global Capital.  

 Not only did Genesis Global Capital knowingly withhold material information and 

thereby engage in conscious misbehavior, it had the motive and opportunity to do so, because it 

resulted in higher compensation for Genesis Global Capital, Defendant DCG, and Defendant 

Silbert.  

 Genesis Global Capital also had the motive to keep Genesis’s real financial 
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condition secret, because Genesis Global Capital knew or had reason to know that its insolvency 

would likely result in mass investor redemptions, the end of its business, and losses to Defendants 

Silbert, DCG, and others. 

 Genesis Global Capital had actual knowledge of the materially false and misleading 

statements and material omissions alleged herein and intended thereby to deceive Plaintiffs and 

the other members of the Class, or, in the alternative, Genesis Global Capital acted with reckless 

disregard for the truth in that they failed or refused to ascertain and disclose such facts as would 

reveal the materially false and misleading nature of the statements made, although such facts were 

readily available to Genesis Global Capital. Genesis Global Capital’s acts and omissions were 

committed willfully or with reckless disregard for the truth. In addition, Genesis Global Capital 

knew or recklessly disregarded that material facts were being misrepresented or omitted as 

described above.  

 As a result of the aforementioned misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiffs 

and the other members of the Class purchased securities from the Company and were damaged 

thereby.  

 Had Plaintiffs and members of the Class known the truth, they would not have 

purchased securities from Genesis Global Capital.  

 In addition to the material misrepresentations and omissions by Genesis Global 

Capital, Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, and Ballensweig engaged in the 

following fraudulent and deceitful acts or practices subjecting them to scheme liability:  

a) Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, and Lenihan forced Genesis Global Capital 

to execute the loan in the amount of approximately $500 million to Defendant 

DCG for Defendant DCG to use in its own profit seeking endeavors and to 

artificially prop up the value of GBTC shares; 
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b) Defendant DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, and Lenihan caused Genesis Global Capital 

to execute the transaction whereby DCG assumed the 3AC bankruptcy claim in 

exchange for a $1.1 billion promissory note due to Genesis Global Capital. 

c) Defendants Moro and Ballensweig caused Genesis Global Capital, at the 

direction of and/or subject to the control of Defendant DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, 

and Lenihan to disseminate misleading and false financial statements to 

prospective investors either directly or through Gemini as their designated 

agent.  

d) Defendant Moro caused Genesis Global Capital to represent in connection with 

every sale of Genesis Yield securities it executed from July 1, 2022 on with 

Plaintiffs and members of the Class that it was in fact solvent, when it was not. 

This includes causing Genesis Global Capital to misleadingly include the $1.1 

billion amount of the DCG Promissory Note on its balance sheet as a “current 

asset and/or receivable.”  

e) Defendant Moro caused Genesis Global Capital and Defendant Ballensweig to 

disseminate its balance sheets and other documents containing 

misrepresentations (including Ballensweig’s July 6, 2022 “Three Arrows Post-

Mortem” email) as to its solvency to members of the Class, and/or their agent 

in order to induce the parties to continue to invest digital assets and/or to prevent 

them from requesting redemptions of their securities.  

f) Defendant Moro publicly announced on Twitter that DCG had assumed certain 

liability to ensure that Genesis had the capital to operate, when it had not.  

 By reason of the conduct alleged herein, Genesis Global Capital and Defendants 

DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, and Ballensweig knowingly, or at least recklessly, 
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violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  

 As a direct and proximate result of the material misrepresentations and omissions 

of Genesis Global Capital and Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Moro, and 

Ballensweig, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have suffered damages in connection with their 

purchases of Genesis Yield securities from Genesis Global Capital in an amount to be determined 

at trial. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 20(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT 

FOR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT 

(Against the Exchange Act Defendants) 

 Plaintiffs reallege the allegations above.  

 This claim is asserted against the Exchange Act Defendants pursuant to Section 20 

of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  

 Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides: “Every person who, directly or 

indirectly, controls any person liable under any provision of [the Exchange Act] or of any rule or 

regulation thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such 

controlled person to any person to whom such controlled person is liable … unless the controlling 

person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the 

violation or cause of action.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).  

 At the time of the violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 

alleged herein, Defendant DCG controlled Genesis Global Capital. Defendant DCG, by virtue of 

its stock ownership, agency, agreements or understandings, specific acts, and otherwise, had the 

power and authority to direct the management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and its 

employees, and to cause Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of 

herein. Defendant DCG, at the time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or cause 
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the direction of the management and policies of Genesis Global Capital.  

 Defendant DCG purposefully exercised its power and influence to cause Genesis 

Global Capital to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 

thereunder as described herein, including by making material misstatements and/or omissions 

regarding the financial health of Genesis Global Capital.  

 At the time of the violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 

alleged herein, Defendant DCG had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to comply 

with the Exchange Act and/or to refrain from acts that are prohibited by the Exchange Act.  

 Defendant DCG culpably participated in Genesis Global Capital’s violations of the 

Exchange Act alleged herein.  

 Accordingly, Defendant DCG is jointly and severally liable for the violations of the 

Exchange Act by Genesis Global Capital complained of herein and is liable to Plaintiffs and the 

Class for rescission and/or damages as to all transactions in which Plaintiffs and Class members 

relied on statement made by Genesis Global Capital in connection with the purchase or sale of 

securities pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.  

 At the time of the violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 

alleged herein: 

 Defendant Silbert had the power and authority to direct the management and 

activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to 

engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as founder and CEO of both 

DCG and Genesis Global Capital and controlling shareholder of DCG.  

 Defendant Moro had the power and authority to direct the management and 

activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to 

engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the CEO of Genesis 
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Global Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period through August 17, 2022. 

 Defendant Ballensweig had the power and authority to direct the management and 

activities of Genesis Global Capital and/or GTT and its employees and to cause Genesis Global 

Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the managing 

director and co-head of sales and trading of GGT before the Class Period through September 28, 

2022.    

 Defendant Islim had the power and authority to direct the management and 

activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to 

engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the COO of Genesis 

Global Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period, and interim CEO of Genesis Global 

Capital and GTT. 

 Defendants Hutchins and Lenihan had the power and authority to direct the 

management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis 

Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to their status as 

members of Defendant DCG’s board of directors. 

 Defendant Kraines had the power and authority to direct the management and 

activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to 

engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the CFO of Defendant 

DCG from in or around September 2021 through April 2023 and member of the board of directors 

of GGH and the Company.  

 Defendant Murphy had the power and authority to direct the management and 

activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to 

engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the COO of Defendant 

DCG during the period January 2020 through November 2022, President of Defendant DCG since 
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October 2022, and member of the board of directors of GGH and the Company. 

 Defendants Silbert, Moro, Ballensweig, Islim, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, and 

Murphy purposefully exercised their power and influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to 

violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder as described 

herein, including by making material misstatements and/or omissions regarding the financial 

health of Genesis Global Capital.  

 At the time of the wrongs alleged herein, Defendants Silbert, Moro, Ballensweig, 

Islim, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, and Murphy had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global 

to comply with the Exchange Act and/or to refrain from acts that are prohibited by the Exchange 

Act, but purposefully decided not to do so.  

 Defendants Silbert, Moro, Ballensweig, Islim, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, and 

Murphy culpably participated in Genesis Global Capital’s violations ofSection 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder alleged herein.  

 Accordingly, Defendants Silbert, Moro, Ballensweig, Islim, Hutchins, Lenihan, 

Kraines, and Murphy are jointly and severally liable for the violations of Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by Genesis Global Capital complained of 

herein and are liable to Plaintiffs and the Class for rescission and/or damages as to all transactions 

in which Plaintiffs and Class members relied on statement made by Genesis Global Capital in 

connection with the purchase or sale of securities pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.  

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF  

THE CONNECTICUT UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT, 

CONN. GEN. STAT. § 42-110a, ET SEQ. 

(Against All Defendants) 

 Plaintiffs reallege the allegations set forth in ¶¶ 44-46, 64-65, 305-313 above.  

 This claim is asserted against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, 
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Kraines, Murphy, Moro, Islim, and Ballensweig pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110a, et. seq. 

 The Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act (CUTPA), Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110a, 

et seq., declares that “unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 

the conduct of any trade or commerce are unlawful.” 

 Pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110g(a), any person who has suffered a loss as a 

result of a violation of CUTPA may bring an action to obtain a declaratory judgment that an act or 

practice violates CUTPA and to enjoin such person who has violated, is violating, or is otherwise 

likely to violate CUTPA. 

 Pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110g(a), any person who has suffered a loss as a 

result of a violation of CUTPA may bring an action for actual damages, attorney's fees, and court 

costs. 

 Plaintiffs and Defendants are each a “person” within the meaning of Conn. Gen. 

Stat. § 42-110a(3). 

 Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, Murphy, Moro, Islim, and 

Ballensweig, through their conduct as described above, engaged in unfair methods of competition 

and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of their trade and commerce, as defined in 

General Statutes § 42-110a(4), within the State of Connecticut. 

 Specifically, Defendants marketed, advertised, offered, and sold the Genesis Yield 

product, by which consumers and/or businesses such as Plaintiffs and Class Members could 

purchase, transfer, borrow, loan, and/or trade digital assets using the Genesis Global Capital trading 

platform.  

 Defendants each engaged in unfair and deceptive acts or practices, including but 

not limited to: 

a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and the 
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benefits of Genesis Yield;  

b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce consumers 

to enter into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;  

c) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers to 

continue to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital; 

d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiffs and 

Class Members from requesting redemptions of their investments;  

e) Ignoring consumer requests for redemptions of their investments; and  

f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon as 

promised.  

 Defendants’ acts and practices, including their material omissions, described 

herein, were likely to, and did in fact, deceive and mislead members of the public as to the solvency 

of Genesis Global Capital and Genesis Yield, including consumers such as Plaintiffs and Class 

Members acting reasonably under the circumstances, to their detriment.  

 Because Defendants knew or should have known that their conduct was deceptive 

and/or unfair under Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110b(a), their conduct was willful under Conn. Gen. 

Statutes § 42-110o. 

 These unfair and deceptive acts and practices have caused Plaintiffs and other 

similarly situated consumers and/or businesses to suffer losses of money and property, including, 

but not limited to, loss of access to, capital from, and interest on their digital assets and/or denied 

return of their digital assets. 

 As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unfair and deceptive acts and 

practices, Plaintiffs and other similarly situated consumers and/or businesses have suffered 

damages and are entitled to relief under CUTPA, including, but not limited to, actual damages, 
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attorneys’ fees, and costs. 

 Accordingly, Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, 

thus seek (a) a declaration that Defendants’ acts and practices as described above violate the 

Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110a, et seq.; (b) an award of actual 

damages; (c) an award of attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110g(d); (d) 

an order enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage in the unfair and deceptive acts and 

practices described above; and € any further relief the Court deems just and proper. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

FOR DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF 

THE NEW YORK UNIFORM DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT, 

N.Y. GEN. BUS. LAW. § 349, ET SEQ. 

(Against All Defendants) 

 Plaintiffs reallege the allegations set forth in ¶¶ 44-46, 64-65, 305-313 above.  

 This claim is asserted against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, 

Kraines, Murphy, Moro, Islim, and Ballensweig pursuant to New York’s Uniform Deceptive Trade 

Practice Act (“GBL § 349”) which prohibits “deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

business, trade or commerce or in the furnishing of any service in this state.” GBL § 349(a). 

 Defendants conducted business, trade, or commerce in New York State. 

 Plaintiffs are authorized to bring a private action under New York’s Uniform 

Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Gen. Bus. Law § 349(h). 

 Plaintiffs and Class Members executed transactions with Genesis Global Capital 

concerning the Genesis Yield product in connection with transactions in “business” “trade” or 

“commerce” within the meaning of GBL § 349. 

 This Count is brought for Defendants’ deceptive conduct, including their unlawful 

and deceptive acts concerning the Genesis Yield product, as alleged herein. 

 Defendants DCG, Silbert, Hutchins, Lenihan, Kraines, Murphy, Moro, Islim, and 
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Ballensweig, through their conduct as described above, engaged in unfair methods of competition 

and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of their trade and commerce, as defined in 

General Statutes § 42-110a(4), within the State of Connecticut. 

 Defendants each engaged in unfair and deceptive acts or practices relating to the 

Genesis Yield product, including but not limited to: 

a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and the 

benefits of the Genesis Yield product;  

b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce consumers 

to invest in the Genesis Yield product;  

c) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers to 

continue to invest in Genesis Yield product;  

d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiffs and 

Class Members from redeeming their investments in the Genesis Yield product;  

e) Failing to return consumer funds after they had requested redemption of their 

investments in the Genesis Yield product; and  

f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon as 

promised.  

 Defendants systematically engaged in these deceptive, misleading, and unlawful 

acts and practices to the detriment of Plaintiffs and Class members. 

 Defendants willfully engaged in such acts and practices and knew or acted in 

reckless disregard for whether they violated GBL § 349. 

 Defendants’ representations and omissions were material because they were likely 

to deceive reasonable consumers regarding the Genesis Yield product, including its true risks and 

characteristics. 
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 Plaintiffs and Class members relied on Defendants’ deceptive representations and 

omissions when they paid money or other consideration in exchange for yield via the Genesis Yield 

product. 

 Plaintiffs and Class members had no way of knowing Defendants’ 

misrepresentations were false, as Defendants had exclusive knowledge of their own business 

practices. 

 Plaintiffs and Class members have been injured as a direct and proximate result of 

Defendants’ violations as they would not invested in, or would have invested significantly less in, 

the Genesis Yield product had they known these statements were false and of Defendants’ 

omissions. 

 The above unfair and deceptive acts and practices by Defendants were immoral, 

unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous. These acts caused substantial injury to consumers that 

the consumers could not reasonably avoid. This substantial injury outweighed any benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

 Plaintiffs and Class members seek all monetary and non-monetary relief allowed 

by law, including actual damages or statutory damages of $50 per class member, whichever is 

greater, treble damages, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the proposed Class respectfully 

requests relief as follows:  

A. An order certifying this dispute and the Class requested herein as a class action, 

designating Plaintiffs as the representatives of the Class, and appointing Plaintiffs’ counsel as 

counsel to the Class;  

B. A judgment awarding Plaintiffs and the Class appropriate damages based on the 
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claims for relief outlined herein, or a rescissionary form of relief;  

C. A judgment awarding Plaintiffs and the Class prejudgment and post-judgment 

interest, as permitted by law;  

D. A judgment awarding Plaintiffs and the Class costs and fees, including attorneys’ 

fees and costs as permitted by law; and  

E. Granting such other legal, equitable/injunctive or further relief as the Court may 

deem just and proper.  

Dated:  July 12, 2023    Respectfully submitted, 
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